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IT ’S A BOUT EQU ITY

The reasons to  invest ,  work  and l ive  at  Equi ty  Res ident ia l  are  a l l  the  same:  people .  

The people who work at  Equity have produced seven years of  record results for  investors.

They have created an env i ronment  that  br ings  out  the i r  best .  And the i r  hard  work  and

good ideas make l i fe  easy  for  our  res idents .  At  Equi ty  Res ident ia l  i t ’s  a l l  about  people .

m a k i n g  L I F E e a s y >

>

I n v e s t i n g   /   W o r k i n g   /   L i v i n g  

John Collins, Senior Vice President, Capital Markets, provides plenty of reasons to invest in Equity Residential.



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS Year ended December 31 (in thousands, except per share data)

2000 % change 1999 1998

Statement of Operations Data

Total Revenues $ 2,030,340 16.5% $ 1,742,627 $ 1,333,891

Funds From Operations (FFO) 726,172 17.2% 619,603 458,806

FFO Per Share (Fully Diluted) 5.00 11.1% 4.50 4.05

Dividends Paid Per Share 3.15 7.1% 2.94 2.72

Balance Sheet Data

Total Assets $ 12,263,966 4.7% $ 11,715,689 $10,700,260

Total Liabilities 6,031,801 4.8% 5,753,776 4,938,439

Shareholders’ Equity 5,619,547 2.1% 5,504,934 5,330,447

>
EQUITY is the largest publicly traded owner, 

operator and developer of multifamily 

residential properties in the United States. 
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I NVESTI N G in EQUITY
> Dividend Growth

( p e r  s h a r e )

> FFO Growth

(per share - fully diluted)

> Acquisitions Growth

(number of  uni ts
in  thousands)

> Revenue Growth

(amounts in  mi l l ions)

96 97 98 99 00
$ 3.15

2.94

2.72

2.55
2.40

96 97 98 99 00
$ 5.00

4.50

4.05

3.64

3.10

96 97 98 99 00
227.7
225.7

191.7

140.5

67.7

96 97 98 99 00
$ 2,030

1,743

1,334

747

478



1,103 Properties

7,400 Employees

800 Swimming Pools

1,000,000 Residents

20,000 Training Classes

227,000 Mailboxes

a  



m e s s a g e t o I N V E S T O R S

Strong performance. Clear vision.

Extraordinary people. A bright future.

There are more REASONS t o INVEST

in Equity Residential than ever before.

STRONG PERFORMANCE. In 2000, we achieved our

seventh consecutive year of record growth. Revenues

rose to $2.03 billion, 16.7 percent more than in 1999. Net

income grew to $437.5 million. Funds from operations

(FFO), one of the most commonly used measures of a

real estate company’s performance, grew to $726.2

million or $5.00 per share. At 1.3 percent of revenues,

our general and administrative expense remains among

the lowest in the industry. Our long-term performance

is just as impressive: a $10,000 investment in Equity

Residential made in 1993 would have grown to

$34,000 by the end of 2000. (continued)

People are at the heart of all successes. People backed by Equity.
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A CLEAR VISION. Our consistently strong performance begins

with a clear vision. In 1993, when Equity Residential became a
public company, we saw that bringing the discipline, transparency

and capital resources of a publicly held corporation to multifamily

real estate could revolutionize the industry. Capitalizing on a

unique window of opportunity, we assembled a large, nationwide

portfolio of properties. Our size brought us both unprecedented

economies of scale and a lower cost of capital than our peers. A

“mutual fund” strategy of building a presence across multiple

markets produced a more predictable stream of earnings and

improved control of risks. We could offer more to our residents–and

to those who work for the company.

PROVEN STRATEGIES. Our long-term strategies make the

most of these advantages. We concentrate on high barrier 

to entry markets, where strict zoning and other factors help

ensure that the demand for apartments exceeds the supply. Our

2000 acquisition of Grove Property Trust, which owned close to

7,300 units in 60 properties, helped us become one of the leading

apartment companies in New England. Since it was established

in 1997, our development operation has built more than $435

million worth of properties, in a number of the nation’s most

attractive markets.

We have proven that in our business, size and innovation go

hand-in-hand. With the cash flow and financial strength of a

large corporation, we can afford to invest in better ways of

doing business. The national call center that we are rolling out

already has generated more than $7 million in rental income.

The resident utility billing system we introduced in 1999 has now

been launched nationwide, producing more than $30 million in

revenue and promoting water conservation. The impact of such

improvements can be seen in our bottom line: since 1993, net

operating income has grown nearly twice as fast as rents and

more than seven times faster than expenses.

Other investments improve our ability to attract customers.

One example is the recent investment in Viva.com, the rental

housing industry’s first Internet leasing exchange, which helps

us reach out to qualified customers in 15 major markets. Our

acquisition of Globe Business Resources, one of the largest

corporate housing and furniture rental companies, makes us a

one-stop shop for furnished and unfurnished apartments. We

can develop profitable new relationships with corporations that

need to relocate employees or that offer housing assistance as

a benefit, while we also make life easier for our residents.
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> Annual FFO ( p e r  s h a r e  g r o w t h )

Our growth in funds from operations (FFO) per share 

consistently exceeds the average of the apartment industry.

E q u i t y  R e s i d e n t i a l

A p a r t m e n t  S e c t o r

> Portfolio Strategy ( B a r r i e r  t o  E n t r y )

We earn a growing percentage of our income in

higher barrier to entry markets that offer more

predictable income and stable cash flows.
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EXTRAORDINARY PEOPLE. Our business is both capital and

labor intensive. Our conservative balance sheet, the industry’s

highest bond ratings and steadily increasing dividends all show

that we know how to raise capital and buy and run properties.

Now, we’re proving that we can be equally successful in

creating a strong, productive corporate culture. 

While some might question the value of such efforts, we are

convinced that building a strong corporate culture will produce

important, tangible gains. If we do a better job of retaining valued

employees, we will decrease overhead and improve our service.

Being the preferred employer will help us become the preferred

provider of apartments. If we are a great place to work, the people

who work here will do great things for our residents and for

our investors.

We’ve already made progress. In an industry that experiences

high employee turnover, our rate is lower than average–and

falling. The editors of Fortune magazine recently named us one

of the most admired companies in America. And we can say

without fear of contradiction that we have a unique culture. No

one has ever accused the founders of this company of being 

conventional, and in our attitudes and the way we work, we

continue to challenge conventional thinking. We challenge it

by recognizing that this business is not built with bricks and

mortar, but with people. We challenge it by encouraging all of

our employees to think like owners of the business and by giving

every employee a stake in the company’s success. We challenge

it by combining the belief that people should enjoy their work

with an unwavering commitment to producing results. 

Now we are working to spread these values across our 

company–and to unite the nine organizations we have acquired

since 1993. From a formal career path for leasing agents to an

expanded bonus plan, we’re doing more than ever to engage

employees. Our compensation programs are highly competitive.

Many employees, including maintenance directors, receive

stock grants, and every full-time employee belongs to our profit

sharing plan. New benefits, including time off with pay for

community service, recognize that employees have lives outside

of work–and help build loyalty. We’re confident that the benefits

we gain through actions like these will be easy for our residents

to see and hard for our competitors to copy. We’ll take the next

step in reshaping our industry.  (continued)
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By conservatively managing our balance 

sheet, we allow ourselves the financial 

flexibility to take advantage of opportunities

in the marketplace.

> Capital Structure Total Capitalization:  $15.1 billion   /   Total Shares:  145.05 million (including OP units)   /   Share Price:  $55.31

D e b t :  3 8 %   E q u i t y :  6 2 %   

1 5 %

>
s e c u r e d

u n s e c u r e d  

p r e f e r r e d

c o m m o n8 5 %
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> Portfolio Diversification

( p e r c e n t  o f  N O I  b y  r e g i o n )

15.6%

12.3%

12.2%

14.0%

9.8%

7.1%

13.6%

15.5%

Atlantic  /  26,385 units

Southeast  /  32,579 units

Florida  /  33,451 units

Midwest  /  40,360 units

Southwest  /  28,878 units

17,939 units /  Arizona

25,809 units /  West

21,681 units /  Pacific Northwest

A diversified portfolio, with no more than 16% of our income coming from

a single region, helps us weather economic downturns or overbuilding in

any single area of the country.

Gerald Spector

<

Douglas Crocker II

<

A BRIGHT FUTURE. We look forward to 2001. The apartment

industry is in terrific condition. Our diversified portfolio will help

cushion any regional cyclical downturns that occur as the 

economy slows. And in an uncertain economic environment,

our conservative balance sheet and proven risk management

skills are likely to become even more valuable to investors.

We’ll continue to fine tune our portfolio. Within three years,

we expect to gain 55 percent of our income from high barrier

to entry markets, compared to 46 percent today. We also

intend to maintain the average age of our properties at about

ten years. To reach both goals we’ll continue our asset sale

and development programs. In 2000, we sold $1 billion in 

properties through individual asset sales and joint ventures. 

In 2001, we anticipate selling about $500 to $600 million of

properties. Meanwhile, we have more than $700 million of

new properties in the development pipeline.

At the same time, we will continue to improve our service–and

our services–to make life even easier for our residents. A new,

written service guarantee promises residents that we will fix

any maintenance problems within 48 hours, or let them live

rent-free until we do. We’ll continue to negotiate service

agreements with telephone and cable television companies,

Internet service providers and a wide range of other companies

that benefit residents and add to our income. We also plan to

build our furniture rental and corporate housing business and to

market new products, ranging from renters’ insurance to affinity

cards. We’ll expand our efforts to serve military personnel and

other niche markets. 

Most of all, we will concentrate on developing, retaining and

leading the best people in the business. Our compensation 

programs, benefits and opportunities for growth, already

among the best in the industry, will be strengthened even

more. We’ll bring our senior management development 

program to property managers and put our training courses 

on-line to reach more employees. While there are many good

reasons to invest in Equity Residential–and to live at one of

our properties–the best one will always be its people.

Together, we’ll keep building Equity, every day.

Samuel Zell
Chairman of the Board of Trustees

Douglas Crocker II
President and Chief Executive Officer

Gerald Spector
Chief Operating Officer
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7,400
Employees

At  Equ i ty  Res ident ia l ,  our  res idents  are  impor tant ,  bu t  our  f i r s t

pr io r i t y  i s  the  peop le  who  work  here .  Pu t t ing  them f i rs t  w i l l  pu t

us  f i rs t .  We’ re  do ing  i t  by  o f fe r ing  the  oppor tun i ty  to  g row and

the  f reedom to  ac t .

t h e  F R E E D O M t o  a c t >

f r o m  c o a s t  t o  c o a s t
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M a n a g i n g  S u c c e s s

WOR KI NG at  EQUITY

At Equity Residential, a decentralized management

style keeps decision-making close to customers. 

Key pricing and leasing decisions are made by Stacey

Neameyer and other regional managers, who play a

critical role in our growth. On-site property managers

have the authority to adjust rental rates and incentive

programs to current conditions in their local markets,

while stock grants and other incentive compensation

programs promote improved performance. With this

distinctly entrepreneurial approach comes plenty of

training, recognition and support. A new operating

system, which eliminates needless paperwork, allows

people to spend more time on their work and less 

time on reports. 



TRAINING CLASSES
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20,000

B e s t  i n  C l a s s

Ph.Ds in HVAC

Ninety percent of our maintenance staff

has completed Heating Ventilation and 

Air Conditioning training. Performing most

HVAC work in-house provides faster, more

responsive service for residents and saves

millions of dollars in operating expenses.

Employees get to expand their knowledge and share

ideas at Equity Institute, in Phoenix. Our education

programs reflect our position as an industry leader. 

In 2000, we invested more than $5 million in education

and conducted more than 20,000 classroom sessions

on topics ranging from fair housing and employment

law to financial management and property maintenance.

Our customized leadership development program 

has been completed by all of our senior executives

and more than 300 other managers. Now, it  is

being extended to all 2,000 on-site managers and

maintenance directors.



>
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HOME IMPROVEMENT

Product Days at our Lexford Division 

properties bring managers and maintenance

personnel from many locations together 

to share their experiences and learn

about new products for use in Lexford’s 

distinctive one-story, low-cost, 

low-maintenance properties. 

Regional Maintenance Director Jimmie Rowe (right) who joined the company as a maintenance

director in 1997, now oversees the work of people at 40 different properties. His expertise was

recognized by the local apartment association, which recently elected Jimmie to its board. Our

promote-from-within policy rewards outstanding performance. In 2000, we promoted 900 people. 

TEAM SPIRIT

At Equity Residential, property managers,

maintenance directors, leasing consultants,

and others play–and work–as a team to

develop new opportunities, such as

Basketball City at Charles River Park in

Boston. Renting the roof of the property’s

parking garage to the operator of private

basketball clubs provides a new amenity

for residents and makes use of otherwise

unproductive space.

PROMOTING PERFORMANCE



>



Why do  one  mi l l ion  peop le  choose  to  l i ve  wi th  us?  Because  we make  l i fe  easy.   

We make  i t  easy  fo r  res idents  to  f ind  and  furn ish  our  apar tments  and  easy  to  l i ve  a t  

one  o f  our  p roper t ies .  We even  make  i t  easy  to  move .  I t ’s  easy  to  see  tha t  the  

bes t  cho ice  i s  Equ i ty  Res ident ia l .   

SATISFIED RESIDENTS:
POSITIVE  RETURNS

t h e  F R E E D O M t o  c h o o s e >

>
$ 1 0 , 0 0 0  I n v e s t m e n t  i n  1 9 9 3
wou l d  be  wo r t h  $34 ,000  t oday $10.0

$12.3 $12.4 $13.6

$19.7

$25.7

$34.2

$21.8

$24.7

> 9 3 9 4 9 5 9 6 9 7 9 8 9 9 0 0

A s s u m e s  d i v i d e n d  r e i n v e s t m e n t  ( d o l l a r s  i n  t h o u s a n d s )  



The acquisition of Charles River Park in downtown

Boston continues our shift into markets with high barriers

to entry and attractive demographics. Whether it is 

a high-rise apartment in the center of a city or a 

garden-style, multi-building community in a suburban 

location, we offer properties for every lifestyle. Our

Lexford Division serves a larger number of older 

residents, while other properties are aimed at college

students. We also have signed an agreement to rehab,

build and manage the housing for 17,000 military 

personnel and their families at the Army’s West Coast

headquarters in Fort Lewis, Washington.
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M o v i n g U P

L I V I N G at  EQUITY



R E S I DE NTS
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1,000,000
E-LEASING

New technology makes it easier than ever to find–

and rent–an Equity apartment. Electronic leasing

kiosks now being developed for use in leasing offices

and other locations take prospects on virtual tours of

new apartments, showing everything from the color of the

countertops to the views from the windows. Prospective

residents also can review apartment listings and

complete a lease application on the Internet.  

Agents at our national call center use customized 

software to qualify the needs of prospective residents

and instantly update available apartments. 

We offer the choices our residents are looking for.

With its four swimming pools, newly renovated 

fitness facilities and tennis courts, LaMirage, in

San Diego, offers resort-style living in one of the

country’s most attractive markets. We are currently

expanding the community by 340 units, with many

of them leased while still under construction.

T h e  G o o d  L i f e



>



STAY wi th EQU ITY
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WELCOME

With years of experience and a resourceful

“can-do” attitude, leasing consultant Kefyrah

Yisrael makes relocating easy for new residents,

whether it’s supervising movers or finding a new

vet for the resident’s dog. Our Coast-to-Coast

program makes it easy for residents to move

to another Equity Residential property anywhere

in the country.

Aimed at the 80,000 people who leave our properties

each year to move into entry-level homes, Rent with

Equity allows residents to apply up to 20 percent of

their monthly rent to the purchase of a home. We can

attract new residents and hold them for longer periods,

while the program’s costs are more than offset by

the fees paid by builders. Now the program is being

expanded to provide complete home-buying services.

Our acquisition of Globe Business Resources makes

it possible for customers to call us today and move

into a furnished home or apartment tomorrow. 

>



>



Year Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

O P E R AT I N G  D ATA :
Total revenues $ 2,030,340 $ 1,742,627 $ 1,333,891 $ 747,078 $ 478,385

Income before allocation to Minority Interests,
income from investments in unconsolidated
entities, net gain on sales of real estate,
and extraordinary items $ 380,613 $ 319,842 $ 251,927 $ 176,014 $ 97,033

Net income $ 549,451 $ 393,881 $ 258,206 $ 176,592 $ 101,624

Net income available to Common Shares $ 437,510 $ 280,685 $ 165,289 $ 117,580 $ 72,609

Net income per share – basic $ 3.38 $ 2.30 $ 1.65 $ 1.79 $ 1.70

Net income per share – diluted $ 3.34 $ 2.29 $ 1.63 $ 1.76 $ 1.69

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding – basic 129,507 122,175 100,370 65,729 42,586

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding – diluted 145,633 135,655 112,578 74,281 51,102

Distributions declared per Common Share outstanding $ 3.15 $ 2.94 $ 2.72 $ 2.55 $ 2.40

B A L A N C E  S H E E T  D ATA  ( a t  e n d  o f  p e r i o d ) :
Real estate, before accumulated depreciation $ 12,591,460 $ 12,238,963 $10,942,063 $ 7,121,435 $ 2,983,510

Real estate, after accumulated depreciation $ 11,239,224 $ 11,168,476 $10,223,572 $ 6,676,673 $ 2,681,998

Total assets $ 12,263,966 $ 11,715,689 $10,700,260 $ 7,094,631 $ 2,986,127

Total debt $ 5,706,152 $ 5,473,868 $ 4,680,527 $ 2,948,323 $ 1,254,274

Minority Interests $ 612,618 $ 456,979 $ 431,374 $ 273,404 $ 150,637

Shareholders’ equity $ 5,619,547 $ 5,504,934 $ 5,330,447 $ 3,689,991 $ 1,458,830

O T H E R  D ATA :
Total properties (at end of period) 1,104 1,062 680 489 218

Total apartment units (at end of period) 227,704 225,708 191,689 140,467 67,705

Funds from operations available to Common
Shares and OP Units (1) $ 726,172 $ 619,603 $ 458,806 $ 270,763 $ 160,267

Cash flow provided by (used for):
Operating activities $ 834,503 $ 781,853 $ 542,147 $ 348,997 $ 210,930

Investing activities $ (561,653) $ (520,185) $(1,046,308) $(1,552,390) $ (635,655)

Financing activities $ (278,195) $ (236,516) $ 474,831 $ 1,089,417 $ 558,568

(1) Funds from Operations (“FFO”) represents net income (loss) (computed in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ((“GAAP”)), excluding gains or
losses from sales of property, plus depreciation and amortization, adjustments for unconsolidated entities and extraordinary items. Adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint 
ventures will be calculated to reflect funds from operations on the same basis. This definition of FFO is in accordance with the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trust’s (“NAREIT”)
recommended definition. NAREIT modified this definition effective January 1, 2000. Nevertheless, this modification had no impact upon the Company’s calculation of FFO for either the 
current or prior periods presented.
The Company believes that FFO is helpful to investors as a supplemental measure of the operating performance of a real estate company because, along with cash flows from operating activities,
financing activities and investing activities, it provides investors an understanding of the ability of the Company to incur and service debt and to make capital expenditures. FFO in and of itself does
not represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP and therefore should not be considered an alternative to net income as an indication of the Company’s performance
or to net cash flows from operating activities as determined by GAAP as a measure of liquidity and is not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund cash needs. The Company’s calculation of
FFO may differ from the methodology for calculating FFO utilized by other real estate companies and may differ as a result of differences between the Company’s and other real estate company’s
accounting policies for replacement type items and, accordingly, may not be comparable to such other real estate companies.

Selected Financial Data
Financial information in thousands except for per share and property data
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O V E R V I E W

The following discussion and analysis of the results of opera-
tions and financial condition of the Company should be read in
connection with the Consolidated Financial Statements and
Notes thereto. Due to the Company's ability to control the
Operating Partnership, the Management Partnerships and
Management Companies, the Financing Partnerships, the LLC’s
and certain other entities, each entity has been consolidated
with the Company for financial reporting purposes. Capitalized
terms used herein and not defined have the same meaning as
defined in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Forward-looking statements in this report are intended to be
made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. The words “believes,”
“expects” and “anticipates” and other similar expressions that
are predictions of or indicate future events and trends and
which do not relate solely to historical matters identify
forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements
are subject to risks and uncertainties, which could cause
actual results, performance, or achievements of the Company
to differ materially from anticipated future results, performance
or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements. Factors that might cause such differences include,
but are not limited to, the following:

• costs to obtain alternative sources of capital to the
Company are higher than anticipated; and

• occupancy levels and market rents may be adversely
affected by local economic and market conditions,
which are beyond the Company’s control.

Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date
hereof. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly
release any revisions to these forward-looking statements,
which may be made to reflect events or circumstances after the
date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.

R E S U LT S  O F  O P E R AT I O N S

The acquired properties are presented in the Consolidated
Financial Statements of the Company from the date of each
acquisition or the closing dates of the Mergers. The following
table summarizes the number of Acquired and Disposed
Properties and related units for the prior three years:

Acquisitions Dispositions

Number of Number of Number of Number of
Year Properties Units Properties Units

1998 210 56,015 20 4,719
1999 366 35,450 36 7,886
2000 93 14,200 53 12,813

The Company’s overall results of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2000 and 1999 have been significantly impacted by
the Company's acquisition and disposition activity. The significant
changes in rental revenues, furniture income, property and
maintenance expenses, real estate taxes and insurance, furni-
ture expenses, depreciation expense, property management and
interest expense can all primarily be attributed to the acquisition
of the 1999 Acquired Properties, the 2000 Acquired Properties,
and the Globe acquisition partially offset by the disposition of
the 1999 Disposed Properties and the 2000 Disposed Properties.
The impact of the 1999 Acquired Properties, the 2000 Acquired
Properties, the Globe acquisition, the 1999 Disposed Properties
and the 2000 Disposed Properties is discussed in greater detail
in the following paragraphs. 

Properties that the Company owned for all of both 2000 and 1999
(the “2000 Same Store Properties”), which represented 155,910
units, impacted the Company's results of operations. Properties
that the Company owned for all of both 1999 and 1998 (the “1999
Same Store Properties”), which represented 121,490 units, also
impacted the Company’s results of operations. Both the 2000
Same Store Properties and 1999 Same Store Properties are
discussed in the following paragraphs. 

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2000 to the year
ended December 31, 1999
For the year ended December 31, 2000, income before allocation
to Minority Interests, income from investments in unconsolidated
entities, net gain on sales of real estate and extraordinary items
increased by $60.8 million, or 19.0%, when compared to the year
ended December 31, 1999.

Total revenues from the 2000 Same Store Properties increased 
by approximately $65.0 million to $1.5 billion or 4.6% primarily as 
a result of higher rental rates charged to new tenants and tenant
renewals and an increase in income from billing tenants for their
share of utility costs (the Company’s “RUBS” program) as well
as other ancillary services provided to tenants. Overall, property
operating expenses, which include property and maintenance,
real estate taxes and insurance and allocable property management
expenses, increased approximately $13.0 million or 2.5%. This
increase was primarily the result of higher expenses for on-site
compensation costs and an increase in real estate taxes on
certain properties, but was partially offset by lower leasing and
advertising and administrative costs.

Property management expenses include expenses associated
with the self-management of the Company's Properties. These
expenses increased by approximately $14.8 million primarily due
to the continued expansion of the Company’s property management
business and higher overall compensation expenses. During 2000,
the Company incurred the full year impact of assuming the
property management business of Lexford and also assumed
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management offices in Cincinnati, Ohio and Norwood,
Massachusetts related to the acquisition of Globe and Grove,
respectively. Also included in compensation expense is the
current year charge associated with the issuance of restricted
shares in 2000.

Fee and asset management revenues and fee and asset management
expenses increased as a result of the Company continuing to
manage Properties that were either sold and/or contributed to
various joint venture entities.

Furniture income and furniture operating expenses are associated
with the operation of the furniture rental business assumed in
connection with the Globe acquisition.

Interest expense, including amortization of deferred financing
costs, increased by approximately $47.1 million. This increase
was primarily the result of an increase in the Company’s weighted
average indebtedness outstanding which increased by $514 million
and higher interest rates. The Company’s effective interest costs
increased from 7.05% for the year ended December 31, 1999 to
7.25% for the year ended December 31, 2000.

General and administrative expenses, which include corporate
operating expenses, increased approximately $4.1 million
between the periods under comparison. This increase was
primarily due to the addition of corporate personnel and higher
overall compensation expenses including a current year expense
associated with the awarding of restricted shares to key
employees in 2000. These expenses as a percentage of total
revenues increased to 1.30% for the year ended December 31,
2000 as compared to 1.28% of total revenues for the year ended
December 31, 1999.

Net loss from extraordinary items increased approximately $5.1
million related primarily to pre-payment penalties incurred on the
refinancing of $208 million in mortgage debt.

Income from investment in unconsolidated entities increased by
approximately $7.1 million related to preferred returns received
on joint venture agreements.

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 1999 to the year
ended December 31, 1998
For the year ended December 31, 1999, income before allocation
to Minority Interests, income from investments in unconsolidated
entities, net gain from sales of real estate and extraordinary items
increased by $67.9 million, or 27.0%, when compared to the year
ended December 31, 1998.

Total revenues from the 1999 Same Store Properties increased by
approximately $35.8 million to $1.1 billion or 3.5% primarily as a
result of higher rental rates charged to new tenants and tenant
renewals and an increase in income from billing tenants for their
share of utility costs as well as other ancillary services provided
to tenants. Overall, property operating expenses, which include
property and maintenance, real estate taxes and insurance and
an allocation of property management expenses, increased
approximately $0.1 million or 0.03%. This increase was primarily
the result of higher expenses for on-site compensation costs and
an increase in real estate taxes on certain properties, but was
partially offset by lower leasing and advertising, administrative,
maintenance and property management costs.

Property management expenses increased by approximately 
$8.5 million primarily due to the continued expansion of the
Company’s property management business. During 1999, the
Company assumed a management office in Reynoldsburg, Ohio
related to the LFT Merger.

Fee and asset management revenues and fee and asset
management expenses decreased due to the Company acquiring
certain previously fee-managed only properties.

Interest expense, including amortization of deferred financing
costs, increased by approximately $91.9 million. This increase
was primarily the result of an increase in the Company’s weighted
average indebtedness outstanding which increased by $1.3 billion.
However, the Company’s effective interest costs decreased from
7.10% for the year ended December 31, 1998 to 7.05% for the year
ended December 31, 1999.

General and administrative expenses, which include corporate
operating expenses, increased approximately $1.7 million between
the periods under comparison. This increase was primarily due to
the addition of corporate personnel. However, by gaining certain
economies of scale with a much larger operation these expenses
as a percentage of total revenues were 1.28% for the year ended
December 31, 1999 compared to 1.55% of total revenues for the
year ended December 31, 1998.
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L I Q U I D I T Y  A N D  C A P I TA L  R E S O U R C E S

For the Year Ended December 31, 2000
As of January 1, 2000, the Company had approximately $29.1 million
of cash and cash equivalents and $400 million available on its
lines of credit, of which $65.8 million was restricted. After taking
into effect the various transactions discussed in the following
paragraphs, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance at
December 31, 2000 was approximately $23.8 million and the
amount available on the Company’s line of credit was $400 million,
of which $53.5 million was restricted. The following discussion
also explains the changes in net cash provided by operating
activities, net cash used for investing activities and net cash used
for financing activities, all of which are presented in the
Company’s Statements of Cash Flows.

Part of the Company’s strategy in funding the purchase of 
multifamily properties, funding its Properties in the development
stage and the funding of the Company’s investment in joint
ventures with multifamily real estate developers is to utilize its
line of credit and to subsequently repay the line of credit from 
the issuance of additional equity or debt securities or the net
proceeds from the disposition of Properties. Utilizing this
strategy during 2000, the Company:

• obtained the mortgage financing on forty-six previously
unencumbered Properties and received net proceeds of
$484.4 million;

• disposed of fifty-three properties (including the sale of the
Company’s entire interest in three Unconsolidated
Properties) and received net proceeds of  $631.2 million;

• sold and/or contributed thirty-four properties to three separate
joint ventures and received net proceeds of $97.0 million;

• issued approximately 0.9 million Common Shares and
received net proceeds of $32.9 million;

• issued five new series of Cumulative Convertible
Redeemable Preference Units and received net proceeds
of $142.4 million; and

All of these proceeds were utilized to:
• repay the lines of credit;
• repay mortgage indebtedness on selected Properties

and/or repay unsecured notes;
• repay public unsecured debt;
• invest in unconsolidated entities;
• purchase additional Properties.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company:
• repaid four unsecured note issues totaling $208.0 million;
• repaid approximately $171.8 million of mortgage indebtedness

on eighty-three Properties;
• funded $160.9 million related to the development, earnout,

and joint venture agreements;

• purchased twenty-eight Properties (excluding Grove) for
a total purchase price of approximately $654.1 million;

• funded $1.4 million to acquire the remaining interest it did
not own in Brunswick Apartments;

• funded $3.8 million to acquire the remaining interest it did
not own in LFT’s CNL portfolio (10 Properties);

• funded $58.5 million related to the purchase of two separate
vacant land parcels for future development;

• funded $1.25 million to acquire an additional ownership
interest in LFT’s Guilford portfolio; and

• acquired $25.0 million of 8.25% preferred securities of WRP
Convertible Trust I, an affiliate of WRP Newco.

From January 1, 2001 to February 15, 2001, the Company:

• acquired Suerte Apartments, a 272-unit property located 
in San Diego, California for approximately $37.5 million
(assumed mortgage debt of approximately $18.5 million),
Westside Villas VI, an 18-unit property located in Los
Angeles, California for $4.6 million and Riverview
Apartments, a 92-unit property located in Norwalk,
Connecticut for $9.6 million (assumed mortgage debt 
of $6.3 million).

• disposed of Meadowood II Apartments in Indianapolis,
Indiana for $1.3 million, Concorde Bridge Apartments in
Overland Park, Kansas for $15.6 million and Springs of
Country Woods in Salt Lake City, Utah for $31.0 million.

• funded $12.4 million to pay off at maturity the mortgage
debt on two properties.

• funded $11.6 million related to the development, earnout
and joint venture agreements.

• entered into two $100 million forward starting swaps
commencing on March 1, 2001 and expiring on March 1,
2011. The Company will pay an interest rate of 5.958% on
the first $100 million and 5.965% on the second $100 million
and will receive an interest rate of 90-day LIBOR under
both swaps.

As of December 31, 2000, the Company had total indebtedness
of approximately $5.7 billion. Mortgage indebtedness aggregated
$3.2 billion (including premiums of $1.2 million), inclusive of
$838.3 million of tax-exempt bond indebtedness. Unsecured
debt, aggregated $2.5 billion (including net discounts and
premiums of $1.2 million), inclusive of $127.8 million tax-exempt
bond indebtedness.

The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standard
("SFAS") No. 133/138, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities on January 1, 2001. This new accounting standard
requires companies to carry all derivative instruments, including
certain embedded derivatives, in the statement of financial condition
at fair value. The accounting for changes in the fair value of a
derivative instrument depends on whether it has been designated
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and qualifies as part of a hedging relationship and, if so, on the
reason for holding it. The Company uses only qualifying hedges
that are designated specifically to reduce exposure to interest
rate risk by locking in the expected future cash payments on
certain liabilities. This is typically accomplished using an interest
rate swap or treasury lock collar. For financial reporting purposes,
the gain or loss on the effective portion of the interest rate hedge
is recorded as a component of equity, which becomes reclassified
into earnings along with payments on the hedged liability.

Upon adoption of SFAS No. 133/138 in January 2001, the Company
recorded a net transition adjustment in accumulated other
comprehensive income and either an unrealized gain or loss on
hedges at that time, which did not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial condition and results of operations. Adoption
of the standard resulted in the Company recognizing a derivative
instrument liability. In general, the amount of volatility will vary
with the level of derivative activities during any period.

In May 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate protection
agreement to effectively fix the interest rate cost of the Evans
Withycombe Financing Limited Partnership indebtedness to within
a range of 5.6% to 6.0% upon its refinancing. The agreement was
for a notional amount of $131 million with a settlement date of
August 2001.

In August 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate swap
agreement that fixed the Company’s interest rate risk on a
portion of the Operating Partnership’s variable rate tax-exempt
bond indebtedness at a rate of 3.65125%. This agreement was 
for a notional amount of $150 million with a termination date of
August 2003.

In August 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate swap
agreement that fixed the Company’s interest rate risk on a
portion of the Operating Partnership’s variable rate tax-exempt
bond indebtedness at a rate of 3.683%. This agreement was for 
a notional amount of $150 million with a termination date of
August 2005.

In November 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate
swap agreement that fixed the Company’s interest rate on a
portion of the Operating Partnership’s variable rate tax-exempt
bond indebtedness at a rate of 5.81%. This agreement was for 
a notional amount of $100 million with a termination date of
August 2003.

The Company has a policy of capitalizing expenditures made for
new assets, including newly acquired properties and the costs
associated with placing these assets into service. Expenditures
for improvements and renovations that significantly enhance the
value of existing assets or substantially extend the useful life of
an asset are also capitalized. Expenditures for in-the-unit

replacement-type items such as appliances, draperies, carpeting
and floor coverings, mechanical equipment and certain furniture
and fixtures are also capitalized. Expenditures for ordinary
maintenance and repairs are expensed to operations as incurred.
With respect to acquired properties, the Company has determined
that it generally spends $1,000 per unit during its first three years
of ownership to fully improve and enhance these properties to
meet the Company’s standards. In regard to replacement-type
items described above, the Company generally expects to spend
$250 per unit on an annual recurring basis.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company’s total
improvements to real estate approximated $137.4 million. Of this
amount, approximately $36.0 million, or $351 per unit, related to
capital improvements and major repairs for the 1998, 1999 and
2000 Acquired Properties. Capital improvements and major repairs
for all of the Company’s pre-EQR IPO properties and 1993, 1994,
1995, 1996 and 1997 Acquired Properties approximated $35.4
million, or $330 per unit. Capital spent for replacement-type items
approximated $57.1 million, or $273 per unit. In addition,
approximately $6.3 million was spent on eight specific assets
related to major renovations and repositioning of these assets. Also
included in total improvements to real estate was approximately
$0.8 million spent on commercial/other assets and $1.8 million
spent on the Partially Owned Properties. Such improvements to
real estate were primarily funded from net cash provided by
operating activities. Total improvements to real estate budgeted
for 2001 are estimated to be approximately $140.0 million.

Also included in total capital expenditures for the Company was
approximately $5.4 million for non-real estate additions such as
computer software, computer equipment, and furniture and
fixtures and leasehold improvements to the Company’s property
management offices and its corporate offices. Such additions to
non-real estate property were primarily funded from net cash
provided by operating activities. Total additions to non-real 
estate property budgeted for 2001 are estimated to be 
approximately $6.0 million.

The Company, through its Globe subsidiary, has a policy for 
capitalizing expenditures made for rental furniture and property
and equipment, including new acquisitions and the costs 
associated with placing these assets into service. Globe
purchases furniture to replace furniture that has been sold and 
to maintain adequate levels of rental furniture to meet existing
and new customer needs. Expenditures for property and equipment
that significantly enhance the value of existing assets or
substantially extend the useful life of an asset are capitalized.
Expenditures for ordinary maintenance and repairs related to
property and equipment are expensed as incurred. For the period
July 11, 2000 through December 31, 2000, total additions to rental
furniture and property and equipment approximated $14.5 million.
Such additions to rental furniture and property and equipment
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were primarily funded from working capital reserves and from net
cash provided by operating activities. Total additions to rental
furniture and property and equipment budgeted for 2001 are 
estimated to be approximately $25.0 million.

Minority Interests as of December 31, 2000 increased by $155.6
million when compared to December 31, 1999. The primary factors
that contributed to changes in the book value of Minority Interest
during the year were:

• distributions declared to Minority Interests, which
amounted to $38.8 million for 2000 (excluding preference
unit/interest distributions);

• the allocation of income from operations in the amount of
$41.7 million; 

• the conversion of OP Units into Common Shares; and 
• the issuance of Common Shares, OP Units, Preference

Units and Preference Interests during 2000.

Total distributions paid in 2000 amounted to $563.4 million, which
included certain distributions declared in the fourth quarters of
1999 and 2000. The Company paid a $0.815 per Common Share
distribution on December 31, 2000 for the quarter ended
December 31, 2000 to Common Shareholders and Minority
Interest holders of record as of December 20, 2000.

The Company expects to meet its short-term liquidity requirements,
including capital expenditures related to maintaining its existing
Properties and scheduled unsecured note and mortgage note
repayments, generally through its working capital, net cash
provided by operating activities and borrowings under its line of
credit. The Company considers its cash provided by operating
activities to be adequate to meet operating requirements and
payments of distributions. The Company also expects to meet its
long-term liquidity requirements, such as scheduled unsecured
note and mortgage debt maturities, property acquisitions,
financing of construction and development activities and capital
improvements through the issuance of unsecured notes and
equity securities including additional OP Units as well as from
undistributed FFO and proceeds received from the disposition 
of certain Properties. In addition, the Company has certain 
uncollateralized Properties available to secure for additional
mortgage borrowings in the event that the public capital markets
are unavailable to the Company or the cost of alternative sources
of capital to the Company is too high.

The Company has a revolving credit facility with Bank of America
Securities LLC and Chase Securities Inc. acting as joint lead
arrangers to provide the Operating Partnership with potential
borrowings of up to $700 million. This line of credit matures in
August 2002. As of February 15, 2001, $200 million was outstanding
under this facility at a weighted average interest rate of 6.34%. 

In connection with the Globe Merger, the Company assumed 
a revolving credit facility with Fifth Third Bank with potential
borrowings of up to $55.0 million. This line of credit matures in
May, 2003. As of February 15, 2001, no amounts were outstanding
under this facility.

In connection with the Wellsford Merger, the Company provided 
a credit enhancement with respect to certain tax-exempt bonds
issued to finance certain public improvements at a multifamily
development project. As of February 15, 2001, this enhancement
was still in effect at a commitment amount of $12.7 million.

In connection with a joint venture, the Company has an obligation
to fund up to an additional $17.5 million to guarantee third party
construction financing.

Pursuant to the terms of a Stock Purchase Agreement with
Wellsford Real Properties, Inc. (“WRP Newco”), the Company had
agreed to purchase up to 1,000,000 shares of WRP Newco Series
A Preferred at $25.00 per share on a standby basis over a three-
year period ending May 30, 2000. This agreement was terminated on
May 5, 2000, and, as such, the Company has no further obligations
under this agreement.

On May 5, 2000, the Company acquired $25.0 million of 8.25%
preferred securities of WRP Convertible Trust I, an affiliate of
WRP Newco. The preferred securities are indirectly convertible
into WRP Newco common share under certain circumstances.

For the Year Ended December 31, 1999
As of January 1, 1999, the Company had approximately $4 million
of cash and cash equivalents and $330 million available on its
lines of credit, of which $12 million was restricted. After taking
into effect the various transactions discussed in the following
paragraphs, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents balance 
at December 31, 1999 was approximately $29.1 million and the
amount available on the Company’s line of credit was $400 million,
of which $65.8 million was restricted. The following discussion
also explains the changes in net cash provided by operating
activities, net cash used for investing activities and net cash
provided by (used for) financing activities, all of which are
presented in the Company’s Statements of Cash Flows.

Part of the Company’s strategy in funding the purchase of multifamily
properties, funding its Properties in the development stage and
the funding of the Company’s investment in joint ventures with
multifamily real estate developers is to utilize its line of credit 
and to subsequently repay the line of credit from the issuance 
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of additional equity or debt securities or the disposition of
Properties. Utilizing this strategy during 1999, the Company:

• issued the June 2004 Notes and received net proceeds 
of $298.0 million;

• refinanced seven Properties and received additional
proceeds of $78.5 million;

• obtained new mortgage financing on eleven previously
unencumbered properties and received net proceeds 
of $126.5 million;  

• disposed of forty-two properties (including the sale of the
Company’s interest in six MRY joint venture properties) and
received net proceeds of $383 million; 

• issued 1.2 million Common Shares receiving net proceeds
of $38.5 million; and

• issued one Series of Cumulative Convertible Redeemable
Preference Interests receiving net proceeds of $39 million.

All of these proceeds were utilized to either:
• purchase additional properties; 
• provide funding for properties in the development 

stage; and/or 
• repay the line of credit and mortgage indebtedness on

certain Properties.

During the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company:
• assumed and/or entered into new mortgage indebtedness

of approximately $69.9 million, issued OP Units with a value
of $25.2 million and issued Junior Convertible Preference
Units with a value of $3.0 million with respect to the 1999
Acquired Properties. The total purchase price of the 1999
Acquired Properties was approximately $1.4 billion.

• repaid the 1999 Notes that matured on May 15, 1999
totaling $125 million.

• repaid the 1999-A Notes that matured on November 24,
1999 totaling $25 million

• repaid approximately $60.8 million of mortgage indebtedness
on 31 Properties.

• refinanced the debt on six existing properties totaling 
$45.0 million with new mortgage indebtedness totaling 
$65.7 million.

• funded $196.5 million related to the development, earnout
and joint venture agreements.

As of December 31, 1999, the Company had total indebtedness of
approximately $5.5 billion. Mortgage indebtedness aggregated
$2.9 billion (including premiums of $2.1 million), inclusive of $838
million of tax-exempt bond indebtedness. Unsecured debt aggre-
gated $2.3 billion (including net discounts and premiums in the
amount of $2.5 million), inclusive of $127.8 million of tax-exempt
bond indebtedness.

F U N D S  F R O M  O P E R AT I O N S

For the year ended December 31, 2000, Funds From Operations
(“FFO”) available to Common Shares and OP Units increased
$106.6 million, or 17.2%, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 1999. For the year ended December 31, 1999, FFO
increased $160.8 million, or 35.0%, as compared to the year ended 
December 31, 1998.

The following is a reconciliation of net income to FFO available to
Common Shares and OP Units for the years ended December 31,
2000, 1999 and 1998 (amounts in thousands, except per share and
OP Unit amounts):

Year Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998

Net income $ 549,451 $ 393,881 $ 258,206
Adjustments:

Allocation to Minority Interests
– Operating Partnership 41,761 29,536 18,529

Depreciation on 
real estate assets* 438,735 402,466 296,691

Extraordinary items 5,592 451 -
Loss on investment in 

technology segment** 1,000 - -
Net gain on sales of real estate (198,426) (93,535) (21,703)

FFO before preferred distributions 838,113 732,799 551,723
Preferred distributions (111,941) (113,196) (92,917)

FFO available to Common Shares
and OP Units – basic $ 726,172 $ 619,603 $ 458,806

FFO available to Common Shares
and OP Units – diluted $ 760,610 $ 664,657 $ 469,622

FFO per share and OP Unit – basic $ 5.12 $ 4.59 $ 4.11

FFO per share and OP Unit – diluted $ 5.00 $ 4.50 $ 4.05

Weighted average Common Shares 
and OP Units Outstanding – basic 141,960 135,001 111,713

Weighted average Common Shares 
and OP Units Outstanding – diluted 152,203 147,678 115,919

* Includes $2,720, $1,009 and $183 for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998,
respectively, related to the Company's share of depreciation from Unconsolidated Properties.
Excludes $1,476 for the year ended December 31, 2000  related to the minority interests’ share
of depreciation from Partially Owned Properties.

** Represents the Company’s portion of losses related to its investment in Broadband
Residential, Inc.  These expenses have been added back to operations for the determination
of FFO.  The effect of including this expense in FFO would be $(0.007) for the year ended
December 31, 2000.
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FFO represents net income (loss) (computed in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
((“GAAP”)), excluding gains or losses from sales of property, plus
depreciation and amortization, and after adjustments for uncon-
solidated entities and extraordinary items. Adjustments for uncon-
solidated partnerships and joint ventures will be calculated to
reflect funds from operations on the same basis. This definition of
FFO is in accordance with the National Association of Real Estate
Investment Trust's ("NAREIT") recommended definition. NAREIT
modified this definition effective January 1, 2000. Nevertheless,
this modification had no impact upon the Company's calculation
of FFO for either the current or prior periods presented. 

The Company believes that FFO is helpful to investors as a 
supplemental measure of the operating performance of a real
estate company because, along with cash flows from operating
activities, financing activities and investing activities, it provides
investors an understanding of the ability of the Company to incur
and service debt and to make capital expenditures. FFO in and of
itself does not represent cash generated from operating activities
in accordance with GAAP and therefore should not be considered
an alternative to net income as an indication of the Company's
performance or to net cash flows from operating activities as
determined by GAAP as a measure of liquidity and is not necessarily
indicative of cash available to fund cash needs. The Company's
calculation of FFO may differ from the methodology for calculating
FFO utilized by other real estate companies and may differ as a
result of differences between the Company's and other real 
estate company's accounting policies for replacement type 
items and, accordingly, may not be comparable to such other 
real estate companies.

Q U A N T I TAT I V E  A N D  Q U A L I TAT I V E  D I S C L O S U R E  
A B O U T  M A R K E T  R I S K

The Company’s future earnings, cash flows and fair values relevant
to financial instruments are dependent upon prevalent market
rates. Market risk is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market
prices and interest rates. The Company manages its market risk
by matching projected cash inflows from operating properties,
financing activities and investing activities with projected cash
outflows to fund debt payments, acquisitions, capital expenditures,
distributions and other cash requirements. The Company also 
utilizes certain derivative financial instruments to limit market risk.
Interest rate protection agreements are used to convert floating
rate debt to a fixed rate basis. Derivatives are used for hedging
purposes rather than speculation. The Company does not enter
into financial instruments for trading purposes.

The Company has total outstanding debt of approximately $5.7
billion at December 31, 2000, of which approximately $821.0
million, or 14.4% is floating rate debt, including the effects of any
interest rate protection agreements. If market rates of interest on
the Company’s floating rate debt increase by 61 basis points (a
10% increase), the increase in interest expense on the Company’s
floating rate debt would decrease future earnings and cash flows
by approximately $5.0 million. If market rates of interest on the
Company’s floating rate debt decrease by 61 basis points (a 10%
decrease), the decrease in interest expense on the Company’s
floating rate debt would increase future earnings and cash flows
by approximately $5.0 million. 

These amounts were determined by considering the impact of
hypothetical interest rates and equity prices on the Company’s
financial instruments. These analyses do not consider the effects
of the reduced level of overall economic activity that could exist
in such an environment. Further, in the event of a change of such
magnitude, management would likely take actions to further 
mitigate its exposure to the change. However, due to the uncertainty
of the specific actions that would be taken and their possible
effects, this analysis assumes no changes in the Company’s 
financial structure.
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December 31, 2000 1999

A S S E T S
Investment in real estate

Land $ 1,770,019 $ 1,550,378 
Depreciable property 10,782,311 10,670,550 
Construction in progress 39,130 18,035

12,591,460 12,238,963
Accumulated depreciation (1,352,236) (1,070,487)

Investment in real estate, net of accumulated depreciation 11,239,224 11,168,476
Real estate held for disposition 51,637 12,868
Cash and cash equivalents 23,772 29,117
Investment in mortgage notes, net 77,184 84,977
Investments in unconsolidated entities 316,540 140,284
Rents receivable 1,801 1,731
Deposits - restricted 231,639 111,270
Escrow deposits - mortgage 70,470 75,328
Deferred financing costs, net 29,706 33,968
Rental furniture, net 60,183 —
Property and equipment, net 7,620 —
Goodwill, net 67,589 —
Other assets 86,601 57,670

Total assets $ 12,263,966 $ 11,715,689

L I A B I L I T I E S  A N D  S H A R E H O L D E R S '  E Q U I T Y
Liabilities:

Mortgage notes payable $ 3,230,611 $ 2,883,583
Notes, net 2,120,079 2,290,285
Lines of credit 355,462 300,000
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 107,818 102,955
Accrued interest payable 51,877 44,257
Rents received in advance and other liabilities 100,819 74,196
Security deposits 46,272 39,687
Distributions payable 18,863 18,813

Total liabilities 6,031,801 5,753,776

Commitments and contingencies
Minority Interests:

Operating Partnership 609,734 456,979
Partially Owned Properties 2,884 —

Total Minority Interests 612,618 456,979

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred Shares of beneficial interest, $.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 

20,003,166 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2000 and 
25,085,652 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 1999 1,183,136 1,310,266

Common Shares of beneficial interest, $.01 par value; 350,000,000 shares authorized; 
132,616,375 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2000 and 
127,450,798 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 1999 1,326 1,275

Paid in capital 4,739,782 4,523,919
Employee notes (4,346) (4,670)
Distributions in excess of accumulated earnings (300,351) (325,856)

Total shareholders’ equity 5,619,547 5,504,934

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 12,263,966 $ 11,715,689

See accompanying notes.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
Amounts in thousands except for share amounts
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Year Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998

R E V E N U E S
Rental income $ 1,959,785 $ 1,711,738 $ 1,293,560
Fee and asset management 6,520 5,088 5,622
Interest income - investment in mortgage notes 11,192 12,559 18,564
Interest and other income 25,266 13,242 16,145
Furniture income 27,577 — —

Total revenues 2,030,340 1,742,627 1,333,891

E X P E N S E S
Property and maintenance 503,239 414,026 326,733
Real estate taxes and insurance 182,479 171,289 126,009
Property management 76,416 61,626 53,101
Fee and asset management 5,157 3,587 4,279
Depreciation 449,584 408,688 301,869
Interest:

Expense incurred 382,946 337,189 246,585
Amortization of deferred financing costs 5,473 4,084 2,757

General and administrative 26,385 22,296 20,631
Furniture operating expenses 16,288 — —
Amortization of goodwill 1,760 — —

Total expenses 1,649,727 1,422,785 1,081,964

Income before allocation to Minority Interests, income from
investments in unconsolidated entities, net gain on sales of 
real estate and extraordinary items 380,613 319,842 251,927

Allocation to Minority Interests:
Operating Partnership (41,761) (29,536) (18,529)
Partially Owned Properties 132 — —

Income from investments in unconsolidated entities 17,633 10,491 3,105
Net gain on sales of real estate 198,426 93,535 21,703

Income before extraordinary items 555,043 394,332 258,206
Extraordinary items (5,592) (451) —

Net income 549,451 393,881 258,206
Preferred distributions (111,941) (113,196) (92,917)

Net income available to Common Shares $ 437,510 $ 280,685 $ 165,289

Net income per share – basic $ 3.38 $ 2.30 $ 1.65

Net income per share – diluted $ 3.34 $ 2.29 $ 1.63

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding – basic 129,507 122,175 100,370

Weighted average Common Shares outstanding - diluted 145,633 135,655 112,578

Distributions declared per Common Share outstanding $ 3.15 $ 2.94 $ 2.72

Tax treatment of distributions:
Ordinary income $ 3.06 $ 2.56 $ 2.14

Return of capital $ — $ 0.26 $ 0.52

Long-term capital gain $ 0.03 $ 0.09 $ 0.01

Unrecaptured section 1250 gain $ 0.06 $ 0.03 $ 0.05

See accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Amounts in thousands except per share data

Consolidated Statements of Operations . Equity Residential Properties Trust . 2000 Annual Report . 29



Year Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998

C A S H  F L O W S  F R O M  O P E R AT I N G  A C T I V I T I E S :
Net income $ 549,451 $ 393,881 $ 258,206
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Allocation to Minority Interests:
Operating Partnership 41,761 29,536 18,529
Partially Owned Properties (132) — —

Depreciation 449,584 408,688 301,869
Amortization of deferred financing costs 5,473 4,084 2,757
Amortization of discount on investment in mortgage notes (1,249) (1,165) (3,015)
Amortization of goodwill 1,760 — —
Amortization of discounts and premiums on debt (2,332) (2,322) (1,958)
Amortization of deferred settlements on interest rate protection agreements 333 987 1,649
Equity from (earnings) losses in investments in unconsolidated entities 418 (3,366) (1,066)
Net gain on sales of real estate (198,426) (93,535) (21,703)
Gain on sales of property and equipment (4) — —
Loss on sale of mortgage receivable 710 — —
Book value of furniture sales and rental buyouts 6,345 — —
Gain on extinguishment of debt (209) — —
Compensation paid with Company Common Shares 15,085 9,625 803

Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in rents receivable (415) 3,559 (1,456)
Decrease (increase) in deposits – restricted 4,207 (9,953) (13,147)
Additions to rental furniture (13,661) — —
(Increase) decrease in other assets (11,993) 47,670 (8,787)
(Decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses (4,843) (5,610) (3,601)
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable 3,104 (6,387) 7,546
(Decrease) increase in rents received in advance and other liabilities (11,489) 7,963 (2,077)
Increase (decrease) in security deposits 1,025 (1,802) 7,598

Net cash provided by operating activities 834,503 781,853 542,147

C A S H  F L O W S  F R O M  I N V E S T I N G  A C T I V I T I E S :
Investment in real estate, net (664,264) (632,474) (990,728)
Improvements to real estate (137,404) (134,716) (90,608)
Additions to non-real estate property (5,425) (7,219) (11,412)
Investment in property and equipment (933) — —
Interest capitalized for real estate under construction (1,325) (1,493) (1,620)
Proceeds from disposition of real estate, net 721,032 329,342 174,796
Principal receipts on investment in mortgage notes 7,885 4,229 2,853
Investments in unconsolidated entities, net (146,147) (37,114) (22,880)
Proceeds from disposition of unconsolidated entities, net 4,602 — —
(Increase) in deposits on real estate acquisitions, net (122,735) (25,563) (18,451)
Decrease (increase) in mortgage deposits 18,854 11,117 (20,499)
Proceeds from sale of mortgage receivables 4,024 7,150 —
Purchase of management contract rights (779) (285) (119)
Business combinations, net of cash acquired (242,281) (18,274) (50,139)
Other investing activities, net 3,243 (14,885) (17,501)

Net cash (used for) investing activities (561,653) (520,185) (1,046,308)

(Continued on next page)
See accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Amounts in thousands
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Year Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998

C A S H  F L O W S  F R O M  F I N A N C I N G  A C T I V I T I E S :
Loan and bond acquisition costs $ (3,590) $ (9,522) $ (9,021)
Mortgage notes payable:

Proceeds, net 729,978 204,986 223,491
Lump sum payoffs (380,541) (105,846) (63,785)
Scheduled principal payments (27,719) (21,147) (12,624)

Notes, net:
Proceeds — 298,014 542,227
Lump sum payoffs (208,000) (152,266) (120,000)
Scheduled principal payments (498) — —

Lines of credit:
Proceeds 808,637 1,372,000 859,000
Repayments (820,631) (1,388,383) (881,000)

Proceeds from settlement of interest rate protection agreements 7,055 1,380 8,130
Proceeds from sale of Common Shares 7,676 7,717 425,253
Proceeds from sale of Preferred Shares/Units, net 142,350 39,000 —
Proceeds from exercise of options 25,228 30,750 14,482
Common Shares repurchased and retired — (6,252) (94,705)
Payment of offering costs (294) (625) (12,370)
Distributions:

Common Shares (412,321) (364,183) (277,815)
Preferred Shares/Units (111,943) (113,153) (95,952)
Minority Interests – Operating Partnership (39,153) (37,580) (30,752)
Minority Interests – Partially Owned Properties (920) — —

Principal receipts on employee notes, net 324 203 272
Receipts on other notes receivable, net 6,167 8,391 —

Net cash (used for) provided by financing activities (278,195) (236,516) 474,831

Net (decrease) increase  in cash and cash equivalents (5,345) 25,152 (29,330)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 29,117 3,965 33,295

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 23,772 $ 29,117 $ 3,965

S U P P L E M E N TA L  I N F O R M AT I O N :
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 380,853 $ 341,936 $ 234,318

Mortgage loans assumed and/or entered into through acquisitions of real estate $ 87,441 $ 69,885 $ 459,820

Net real estate contributed in exchange for OP Units or Preference Units $ 4,071 $ 28,232 $ 169,834

Mortgage loans assumed by purchaser in real estate dispositions $ (345,762) $ (12,500) $ —

Transfers to real estate held for disposition $ 51,637 $ 12,868 $ 29,886

Investment in mortgage notes converted to investment in real estate $ — $ — $ 88,184

Refinancing of mortgage notes payable in favor of notes, net $ — $ 92,180 $ 35,600

Mortgage loans recorded as a result of consolidation of previously Unconsolidated Properties $ 80,134 $ — $ —

Net liabilities recorded as a result of consolidation of previously Unconsolidated Properties $ 515 $ — $ —

Net (assets acquired) liabilities assumed through business combinations $ (74,138) $ (15,604) $ 42,955

Mortgage loans assumed through business combinations $ 204,728 $ 499,654 $ 184,587

Unsecured notes assumed through business combinations $ 39,564 $ 2,266 $ 461,956

Lines of credit assumed through business combinations $ 67,456 $ 26,383 $ 77,000

Valuation of Common Shares issued through business combinations $ — $ 181,124 $ 1,010,723

Valuation of OP Units issued through business combinations $ 37,228 $ — $ 40,155

Liquidation value of Preferred Shares redesignated through business combinations $ — $ — $ 369,109

(Continued from previous page).  See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998

P R E F E R R E D  S H A R E S
Balance, beginning of year $ 1,310,266 $ 1,410,574 $ 1,041,713

Issuance of 7.00% Series H Cumulative Convertible — — 4,124
Issuance of 8.82% Series I Cumulative Convertible — — 100,000
Issuance of 8.60% Series J Cumulative Convertible — — 114,985
Issuance of 8.29% Series K Cumulative Redeemable — — 50,000
Issuance of 7.625% Series L Cumulative Redeemable — — 100,000
Conversion of Series E Cumulative Convertible (9,860) (75) (38)
Conversion of 7.25% Series G Cumulative Convertible (75) — —
Conversion of 7.00% Series H Cumulative Convertible (2,215) (228) (210)
Conversion of 8.82% Series I Cumulative Convertible — (100,000) —
Conversion of 8.60% Series J Cumulative Convertible (114,980) (5) —

Balance, end of year $ 1,183,136 $ 1,310,266 $ 1,410,574

C O M M O N  S H A R E S ,  $ . 0 1  PA R  VA L U E
Balance, beginning of year $ 1,275 $ 1,182 $ 891

Issuance through proceeds from offerings — — 74
Issuance in connection with Mergers and acquisitions — 40 218
Issuance through conversion of OP Units into Common Shares 9 12 7
Issuance through exercise of options 8 10 5
Issuance through restricted share grants, net 1 3 —
Issuance through Share Purchase – DRIP Plan and Dividend

Reinvestment – DRIP Plan 1 1 10
Issuance through Employee Share Purchase Plan 1 2 1
Issuance through conversion of Preferred Shares into Common Shares 31 26 —
Common Shares repurchased and retired — (1) (24)

Balance, end of year $ 1,326 $ 1,275 $ 1,182

(Continued on next page)
See accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
Amounts in thousands
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Year Ended December 31, 2000 1999 1998

PA I D  I N  C A P I TA L
Balance, beginning of year $ 4,523,919 $ 4,169,102 $ 2,785,661

Issuance of Common Shares through proceeds from offerings — — 370,385
Issuance of Common Shares in connection with Mergers 

and acquisitions — 181,084 1,010,505
Issuance of Common Shares through conversion of OP Units

into Common Shares 42,766 39,683 19,806
Issuance of Common Shares through exercise of options 25,220 30,740 14,477
Issuance of Common Shares through restricted share grants, net 16,024 8,374 —
Issuance of Common Shares through Share Purchase – DRIP Plan 595 954 50,674
Issuance of Common Shares through Dividend Reinvestment – 

DRIP Plan 1,665 1,525 419
Issuance of Common Shares through Employee Share Purchase Plan 5,414 5,235 3,690
Issuance of Common Shares through 401(k) Plan — 1,248 803
Issuance of Common Shares through conversion of Preferred

Shares into Common Shares 127,099 100,282 248
Common Shares repurchased and retired — (6,251) (94,681)
Offering costs (3,944) (1,625) (12,370)
Receipts (advances) on other notes receivable, net 4,045 (4,045) —
Adjustment for Minority Interests ownership in Operating Partnership (3,021) (2,387) 19,485

Balance, end of year $ 4,739,782 $ 4,523,919 $ 4,169,102 

E M P L O Y E E  N O T E S
Balance, beginning of year $ (4,670) $ (4,873) $ (5,145)

Principal receipts, net 324 203 272

Balance, end of year $ (4,346) $ (4,670) $ (4,873)

D I S T R I B U T I O N S  I N  E X C E S S  O F  A C C U M U L AT E D  E A R N I N G S
Balance, beginning of year $ (325,856) $ (245,538) $ (133,129)

Net income 549,451 393,881 258,206
Preference Unit distributions (11,087) (1,185) —
Preferred distributions (100,854) (112,011) (92,917)
Distributions on Common Shares (412,005) (361,003) (277,698)

Balance, end of year $ (300,351) $ (325,856) $ (245,538)

(Continued from previous page)
See accompanying notes.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
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1 .  B U S I N E S S  A N D  F O R M AT I O N  O F  T H E  C O M PA N Y

Equity Residential Properties Trust, formed in March 1993, (“EQR”), is
a self-administered and self-managed equity real estate investment
trust (“REIT”). As used herein, the term “Company” means EQR, and
its subsidiaries, as the survivor of the mergers between EQR and
each of Wellsford Residential Property Trust (“Wellsford”) (the
“Wellsford Merger”), Evans Withycombe Residential, Inc. (“EWR”)
(the “EWR Merger”), Merry Land & Investment Company, Inc.
(“MRY”) (the “MRY Merger”) and Lexford Residential Trust (“LFT”)
(the “LFT Merger”) (collectively, the “Mergers”). The Company also
includes Globe Business Resources, Inc. (“Globe”), Temporary
Quarters, Inc. (“TQ”) and Grove Property Trust (“Grove”). The
Company has elected to be taxed as a REIT under Section 856(c) 
of the Internal Revenue Code 1986, as amended (the “Code”). 

The Company is engaged in the acquisition, disposition, ownership,
management and operation of multifamily properties. As of
December 31, 2000, the Company owned or had interests in a portfolio
of 1,104 multifamily properties containing 227,704 apartment units
(individually a “Property” and collectively the “Properties”) located
in 36 states throughout the United States consisting of the following:

Number of Number of
Properties Units

Wholly Owned Properties 998 207.610
Partially Owned Properties 15 3,067
Unconsolidated Properties 91 17,027

Total Properties 1,104 227,704

The “Partially Owned Properties” are controlled and partially
owned by the Company but have partners with minority interests
and are accounted for under the consolidation method of
accounting. The “Unconsolidated Properties” are partially owned
but not controlled by the Company and consist of investments in
partnership interests and/or subordinated mortgages that are
accounted for under the equity method of accounting.

The Company has formed a series of partnerships (the “Financing
Partnerships”), which beneficially own certain Properties that
may be encumbered by mortgage indebtedness. In general, these
are structured so that ERP Operating Limited Partnership (the
“Operating Partnership”), a subsidiary of EQR, owns a 1% limited
partner interest and a 98% general partner interest in each, with
the remaining 1% general partner interest in each Financing
Partnership owned by various qualified REIT subsidiaries wholly
owned by the Company (each a “QRS Corporation”). Rental
income from the Properties that are beneficially owned by a
Financing Partnership is used first to service the applicable mortgage
debt and pay other operating expenses and any excess is then
distributed 1% to the applicable QRS Corporation, as the general
partner of such Financing Partnership, and 99% to the Operating
Partnership, as the sole 1% limited partner and as the 98% general
partner. The Company has also formed a series of limited liability
companies that own certain Properties (collectively, the “LLCs”).
The Operating Partnership is a 99% managing member of each
LLC and a QRS Corporation is a 1% member of each LLC.

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation
The Mergers and acquisitions were accounted for as purchases in
accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 16. The
fair value of the consideration given by the Company in the Mergers
was used as the valuation basis for each of the combinations. The
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and cash
flows include the results of the Properties purchased through the
Mergers from their respective closing dates.

Due to the Company’s ability as general partner to control either
through ownership or by contract the Operating Partnership, 
a series of management limited partnerships and companies 
(collectively, the “Management Partnerships” or the “Management
Companies”), the Financing Partnerships, the LLC’s, and certain
other entities, each such entity has been consolidated with the
Company for financial reporting purposes.  In regard to the
Management Companies, the Company does not have legal control;
however, these entities are consolidated for financial reporting
purposes, the effects of which are immaterial. 

Real estate assets and depreciation
Real estate is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation
less an adjustment, if any, for impairment. A land value is
assigned based on the purchase price if acquired separately or
based on market research if acquired in a merger or in a single or
portfolio acquisition.

For real estate properties to be disposed of, an impairment loss is
recognized when the fair value of the real estate, less the estimated
cost to sell, is less than the carrying amount of the real estate
measured at the time it is certain that the Company will sell the
property. Real estate held for disposition is reported at the lower
of its carrying amount or its estimated fair value, less its cost to sell.

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The Company uses a 30-year estimated
life for buildings and a five-year estimated life for initial furniture,
fixtures and equipment. Replacements inside a unit such as
appliances and carpeting, are depreciated over a five-year estimated
life. Expenditures for ordinary maintenance and repairs are
expensed to operations as incurred and significant renovations
and improvements that improve and/or extend the useful life of
the asset are capitalized over their estimated useful life, generally
five to ten years. Initial direct leasing costs are expensed as incurred
as such expense approximates the deferral and amortization of
initial direct leasing costs over the lease terms. Property sales or
dispositions are recorded when title transfers and sufficient 
consideration has been received by the Company. Upon disposition,
the related costs and accumulated depreciation are removed
from the respective accounts. Any gain or loss on sale of 
disposition is recognized in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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The Company classifies Properties under development and/or
expansion and properties in the lease up phase as construction in
progress until construction has been completed and all certificates
of occupancy permits have been obtained. The Company also
classifies land relating to construction in progress as land on its
balance sheet.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all demand deposits, money market
accounts and investments in certificates of deposit and repurchase
agreements purchased with a maturity of three months or less, at
the date of purchase, to be cash equivalents. The Company maintains
its cash and cash equivalents at financial institutions. The combined
account balances at each institution periodically exceed the
Federal Depository Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insurance
coverage, and, as a result, there is a concentration of credit risk
related to amounts on deposit in excess of FDIC insurance coverage.
The Company believes that the risk is not significant, as the
Company does not anticipate their non-performance.

Deferred Financing Costs
Deferred financing costs include fees and costs incurred to
obtain the Company’s lines of credit, long-term financings and
costs for certain interest rate protection agreements. These costs
are amortized over the terms of the related debt. Unamortized
financing costs are written-off when debt is retired before the
maturity date. The accumulated amortization of such deferred
financing costs was $17.7 million and $11.1 million at
December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

Rental Furniture
Rental furniture is stated at cost and depreciated on a straight-line
basis at a rate of 1% per month, which is designed to approximate
an estimated useful life of four years with provision for a 50%
residual value.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation expense is
provided on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives of
three to ten years.

Goodwill
Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of 20
years. The Company periodically reviews goodwill for impairment
and if a permanent decline in value has occurred, the Company
would reduce its goodwill balance to fair value. Accumulated
amortization of goodwill  was $1.8 million at December 31, 2000.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
The Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard (“SFAS”) No. 133/138, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, on January 1, 2001. This new
accounting standard requires companies to carry all derivative
instruments, including certain embedded derivatives, in the state-
ment of financial condition at fair value. The accounting for
changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument depends on
whether it has been designated and qualifies as part of a hedging

relationship and, if so, on the reason for holding it. The Company
uses only qualifying hedges that are designated specifically to
reduce exposure to interest rate risk by locking in the expected
future cash payments on certain liabilities. This is typically
accomplished using an interest rate swap or treasury lock collar.
For financial reporting purposes, the gain or loss on the effective
portion of the interest rate hedge is recorded as a component of
equity, which becomes reclassified into earnings along with pay-
ments on the hedged liability.

Upon adoption of SFAS No. 133/138 in January 2001, the Company
recorded a net transition adjustment in accumulated other com-
prehensive income and either an unrealized gain or loss on
hedges at that time, which did not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial condition and results of operations. Adoption
of the standard resulted in the Company recognizing a derivative
instrument liability. In general, the amount of volatility will vary
with the level of derivative activities during any period.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The fair values of the Company’s financial instruments (excluding
the Company’s investment in mortgage notes–see Note 8), includ-
ing cash and cash equivalents, mortgage notes payable, other
notes payable, lines of credit and other financial instruments,
approximate their carrying or contract values.

Revenue Recognition
Rental income attributable to leases is recorded when due from
tenants and is recognized monthly as it is earned, which is not
materially different than on a straight-line basis. Interest income
is recorded on an accrual basis. Leases entered into between a
tenant and a Property for the rental of an apartment unit are year-
to-year, renewable upon consent of both parties on a year-to-year
or month-to-month basis.

Leases of furniture generally have an initial term of three to six
months in duration and can be extended by the customer on a
month-to-month basis. Furniture rentals are accounted for as
operating leases, and revenue is recorded in the month earned.
For sales of furniture, as well as rental buyouts, revenue and
related cost of sales are recorded when the furniture is delivered
or taken off lease. Revenues from both furniture rentals and sales
are included in furniture income while the associated costs of
those rentals and sales are included in furniture operating
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes
Due to the structure of the Company as a REIT and the nature of
the operations of the Properties and management business, the
results of operations contain no provision for federal income
taxes. The Company is subject to certain state and local income,
excise and franchise taxes. The aggregate cost of land and
depreciable property for federal income tax purposes as of
December 31, 2000 and 1999 was approximately $9.2 billion and
$9.1 billion, respectively.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Minority Interests
Operating Partnership: Net income is allocated to minority interests
based on their respective ownership percentage of the Operating
Partnership. The ownership percentage is calculated by dividing
the number of Operating Partnership Units (“OP Units”) held by the
minority interests by the total OP Units held by the minority interests
and the Company. Issuance of additional Common Shares and OP
Units changes the ownership interests of both the minority interests
and the Company. Such transactions and the proceeds therefrom
are treated as capital transactions.

Partially Owned Properties: The Company reflects minority interests
in partially owned properties on the balance sheet for the portion
of properties consolidated by the Company that are not wholly
owned by the Company. The earnings or losses from those properties
attributable to the minority interests are reflected as minority
interests in partially owned properties in the consolidated 
statements of operations.

Use of Estimates
In preparation of the Company’s financial statements in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States, management makes estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements as well as the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ
from these estimates.

Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the previously reported
financial statements in order to provide comparability with the
2000 statements reported herein. These reclassifications have not
changed the results of operations or shareholders’ equity.

Reportable Segments
The Company has one primary reportable business segment,
which consists of investment in rental real estate. The Company’s
primary business is owning, managing and operating multifamily
residential properties, which includes the generation of rental and
other, related income through the leasing of apartment units to
tenants. The Company also has a segment for corporate level
activity including such items as fee and asset management
income, furniture rental/sales activity, interest income earned on
short-term investments and investment in mortgage notes, income
or loss from investments in unconsolidated entities, general and
administrative expenses, and interest expense on mortgage notes
payable, unsecured note issuances, and lines of credit. The
Company’s fee and asset management and furniture rental/sales
activities are immaterial and do not meet the threshold requirements
of reportable segments as provided for in Statement No. 131.

The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources 
primarily based on the rental, furniture and other income generated
from each property less property and maintenance expenses, real
estate taxes and insurance,  property management expenses, fee

and asset management expenses, and furniture expenses, which
is considered net operating income (“NOI”). However, all other
segment measurements are disclosed in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements, and accordingly the accounting policies of
the reportable segments are the same as those described else-
where in the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. 

The Company also considers funds from operations (“FFO”) to be
a primary measure of the performance of real estate companies
including an equity REIT. The Company believes that FFO is helpful
to investors as a measure of the performance of an equity REIT
because, along with cash flows from operating activities, financing
activities and investing activities, it provides investors an under-
standing of the ability of the Company to incur and service debt
and to make capital expenditures. FFO in and of itself does not
represent cash generated from operating activities in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
(“GAAP”) and therefore should not be considered an alternative
to net income as an indication of the Company’s performance or
to net cash flows from operating activities as determined by
GAAP as a measure of liquidity and is not necessarily indicative
of cash available to fund cash needs. The Company’s calculation
of FFO represents net income available to Common Shares,
excluding gains or losses on dispositions of properties, gains or
losses on early extinguishment of debt, and write-off of unamor-
tized costs on refinanced debt, plus depreciation on real estate
assets and income allocated to Minority Interests. The Company’s
calculation of FFO may differ from the methodology for calculating
FFO utilized by other REIT’s and, accordingly, may not be comparable
to such other REIT’s. The Company adopted, effective January 1,
2000, the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trust’s
(“NAREIT”) updated recommended definition of FFO as approved
in the fourth quarter of 1999.

All revenues are from external customers and no revenues are
generated from transactions with other segments. There are no
tenants who contributed 10% or more of the Company’s total 
revenues during 2000, 1999 or 1998. Interest expense on debt is
not allocated to individual Properties, even if the Properties
secure such debt. Further, minority interest in consolidated 
subsidiaries is not allocated to the Properties. 

3 .  B U S I N E S S  C O M B I N AT I O N S

On October 1, 1999, the Company acquired Lexford, which included
402 Properties containing 36,609 units and other related assets for
a total purchase price of approximately $738 million. In connection
with the LFT Merger, each outstanding common share of beneficial
interest of LFT was converted into 0.463 of a Common Share of
the Company. The purchase price consisted of 4.0 million
Common Shares issued by the Company with a market value of
$181.1 million, the assumption of mortgage indebtedness, a term
loan and a line of credit in the amount of $528.3 million, the acquisition
of other assets of approximately $40.9 million, the assumption of
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other liabilities of approximately $25.3 million and other merger
related costs of approximately $24.5 million. 

On July 11, 2000, the Company acquired Globe in an all cash and
debt transaction valued at $163.2 million. Globe provides fully furnished
short-term housing through an inventory of leased housing units
to transferring or temporarily assigned corporate personnel, new
hires, trainees, consultants and individual customers throughout
the United States. Additionally, Globe rents and sells furniture to 
a diversified base of commercial and residential customers
throughout the United States. Shareholders of Globe received
$13.00 per share, which approximated $58.7 million in cash 
based on the 4.5 million Globe shares outstanding. In addition, 
the Company: 

• Acquired $94.8 million in other Globe assets and assumed
$29.6 million in other Globe liabilities;

• Allocated $68.4 million to goodwill;
• Recorded acquisition costs of $4.5 million; and
• Assumed $70.4 million in debt, which included $1.4 million

in mortgage debt, $39.5 million in unsecured notes, and
Globe’s line of credit totaling $29.5 million.

On July 21, 2000, the Company, through its Globe subsidiary,
acquired TQ, the leading corporate housing provider in Atlanta,
Georgia, in a $3.3 million all cash transaction.

On October 31, 2000, the Company acquired Grove, which included
60 properties containing 7,308 units for a total purchase price of
$463.2 million. The Company:

• Paid $17.00 per share or $141.6 million in cash to purchase
the 8.3 million outstanding common shares of Grove;

• Paid $17.00 per unit or $12.4 million in cash to purchase 0.7
million in Grove OP Units outstanding at the merger date;

• Converted 2.1 million Grove OP Units to 0.8 million of the
Operating Partnership’s OP Units using the conversion
ratio of 0.3696 (after cash-out of fractional units). The value
of these converted OP Units totaled $37.2 million;

• Assumed $241.3 million in Grove debt, which included first
and second mortgages totaling $203.4 million and Grove’s
line of credit totaling $38.0 million;

• Acquired $20.1 million in other Grove assets and assumed
$11.2 million in other Grove liabilities, including an earnout
note payable liability totaling $1.5 million. This amount rep-
resents the estimated additional cash or OP Units required
to be funded to the previous owners of Glen Meadow
Apartments upon the transition of this property from subsi-
dized to market rents; and

• Recorded acquisition costs of $19.5 million.

All of the amounts stated above related to the Mergers and 
acquisitions are based on management’s current best estimates,
which are subject to adjustment within one year of the 
respective closing dates.

4. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND MINORITY INTERESTS

The following table presents the changes in the Company’s issued
and outstanding Common Shares for the years ended December
31, 2000, 1999 and 1998:

2000 1999 1998

Common Shares outstanding at January 1, 127,450,798 118,230,009 89,085,265
Common Shares Issued:

Common Share Offerings — — 7,430,568
Conversion of MRY common shares — — 21,801,612
Conversion of LFT common shares — 4,018,717 —
Conversion of Series E Preferred Shares 219,405 1,669 834
Conversion of Series G Preferred Shares 1,280 — —
Conversion of Series H Preferred Shares 64,140 6,580 6,078
Conversion of all Series I Preferred Shares — 2,566,797 — 
Conversion of all Series J Preferred Shares 2,822,012 122 — 
Employee Share Purchase Plan 149,790 147,885 93,521
Dividend Reinvestment – DRIP Plan 34,752 36,132 10,230
Share Purchase – DRIP Plan 13,187 22,534 1,023,184
Exercise of options 685,093 1,013,192 431,174
Restricted share grants, net 237,931 306,500 59,060
Conversion of OP Units 937,987 1,217,821 640,337
Profit-sharing/401(k) Plan contribution — 30,260 15,980

Common Shares Other:
Common Shares repurchased and retired — (148,453) (2,367,400)
Common Shares other — 1,033 (434)

Common Shares outstanding at December 31, 132,616,375 127,450,798 118,230,009

On February 3, 1998, the Company filed with the SEC a Form S-3
Registration Statement to register $1 billion of equity securities.
The SEC declared this registration statement effective on
February 27, 1998. In addition, the Company carried over $272 million
related to the registration statement effective on August 4, 1997.
As of December 31, 2000, $1.1 billion remained available for
issuance under this registration statement.

The equity positions of various individuals and entities that con-
tributed their properties to the Operating Partnership in exchange
for a partnership interest are collectively referred to as the
“Minority Interests – Operating Partnership”. As of December 31,
2000 and 1999, the Minority Interests – Operating Partnership held
12,428,751 and 12,483,742 OP Units, respectively. As a result, the
Minority Interests had an 8.57% and 8.92% interest in the
Operating Partnership at December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
Assuming conversion of all OP Units into Common Shares, total
Common Shares outstanding at December 31, 2000 and 1999
would have been 145,045,126 and 139,934,540, respectively.

Net proceeds from the Company’s Common Share and Preferred
Share offerings are contributed by the Company to the Operating
Partnership in return for an increased ownership percentage and
are treated as capital transactions in the Company’s Consolidated
Financial Statements. As a result, the net offering proceeds from
Common Shares are allocated between shareholders’ equity and
Minority Interests – Operating Partnership to account for the
change in their respective percentage ownership of the underlying
equity of the Operating Partnership. 
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Effective January 1, 2000, the Company has included 100% of the
Guilford portfolio properties in the consolidated financial statements
with the equity interests of the unaffiliated partners reflected as
Minority Interests – Partially Owned Properties as a result of the
Company acquiring additional interests.

During 2000 and 1999, the Company, through a subsidiary of the
Operating Partnership, issued the following with an equity value
of $186 million receiving net proceeds of $181.4 million:

• 800,000 units of 8.00% Series A Cumulative Convertible
Redeemable Preference Interests (collectively known as
“Preference Interests”) with an equity value of $40 million
on September 27, 1999 receiving $39 million in net proceeds.
The liquidation value of these units is $50 per unit. The
800,000 units are exchangeable into 800,000 shares of
8.00% Series M Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Shares
of Beneficial Interest of the Company. Dividends for the
Series A Preference Interests or the Series M Preferred
Shares are payable quarterly at the rate of $4.00 per
unit/share per year.

• 1.1 million units of 8.50% Series B Cumulative Convertible
Redeemable Preference Units with an equity value of
$55.0 million on March 3, 2000 receiving $53.6 million in net
proceeds. The liquidation value of these units is $50 per
unit. The 1.1 million units are exchangeable into 1.1 million
shares of 8.50% Series M-1 Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest of the Company.
Dividends for the Series B Preference Interests or the
Series M-1 Preferred Shares are payable quarterly at the
rate of $4.25 per unit/share per year. 

• 220,000 units of 8.50% Series C Cumulative Convertible
Redeemable Preference Units with an equity value of
$11.0 million on March 23, 2000 receiving $10.7 million in
net proceeds. The liquidation value of these units is $50
per unit. The 220,000 units are exchangeable into 220,000
shares of 8.50% Series M-1 Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest of the Company.
Dividends for the Series C Preference Interests or the
Series M-1 Preferred Shares are payable quarterly at the
rate of $4.25 per unit/share per year. 

• 420,000 units of 8.375% Series D Cumulative Convertible
Redeemable Preference Units with an equity value of
$21.0 million on May 1, 2000 receiving $20.5 million in net
proceeds. The liquidation value of these units is $50 per
unit. The 420,000 units are exchangeable into 420,000
shares of 8.375% Series M-2 Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest of the Company.
Dividends for the Series D Preference Interests or the
Series M-2 Preferred Shares are payable quarterly at the
rate of $4.1875 per unit/share per year. 

• 1,000,000 units of 8.50% Series E Cumulative Convertible
Redeemable Preference Units with an equity value of
$50.0 million on August 11, 2000 receiving $48.8 million in
net proceeds. The liquidation value of these units is $50 per
unit. The 1,000,000 units are exchangeable into 1,000,000
shares of 8.50% Series M-3 Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Shares of Beneficial Interest of the Company.
Dividends for the Series E Preference Interests or the
Series M-3 Preferred Shares are payable quarterly at the
rate of $4.25 per unit/share per year.

• 180,000 units of 8.375% Series F Cumulative Convertible
Redeemable Preference Units with an equity value of
$9.0 million on December 8, 2000 receiving $8.775 million
in net proceeds. The liquidation value of these units is $50
per unit. The 180,000 units are exchangeable into 180,000
shares of 8.375% Series M-2 Cumulative Redeemable
Preferred Shares of the Company. Dividends for the Series
F Preference interests or the Series M-2 Preferred Shares
are payable quarterly at the rate of $4.1875 per unit/share
per year.

The value of these Preference Interests are included in Minority
Interests – Operating Partnership in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets and the distributions incurred are included in preferred
distributions in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The
Series M, M-1, M-2 and M-3 Preferred Shares are not convertible
into EQR Common Shares.

In connection with certain acquisitions during the year ended
December 31, 1999, the Operating Partnership issued 28,795 Series A
Junior Convertible Preference Units and 7,367 Series B Junior
Convertible Preference Units having a combined value of approxi-
mately $3.0 million. These units ultimately will convert to OP Units
in accordance with the respective term sheet agreements. A total
of 84,490 Series A and B Junior Convertible Preference Units with a
value of $7.9 million were outstanding as of December 31, 2000 and
1999. The value of these preference units is included in Minority
Interests – Operating Partnership in the Consolidated Balance
Sheets and the distributions incurred are included in preferred
distributions in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The declaration of trust of the Company provides that the Company
may issue up to 100,000,000 Preferred Shares with specific rights,
preferences and other attributes as the Board of Trustees may
determine, which may include preferences, powers and rights
that are senior to the rights of holders of the Company’s
Common Shares. 

The following table presents the Company’s issued and outstanding
Preferred Shares as of December 31, 2000 and 1999:
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Annual
Dividend Amounts in thousands

Redemption Conversion Rate per December December
Date (1) (2) Rate (2) Share (3) 31, 2000 31, 1999

Preferred Shares of beneficial interest, $.01 par value;
100,000,000 shares authorized:

9 3/8% Series A Cumulative Redeemable Preferred; liquidation
value $25 per share; 6,120,000 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2000 and December 31, 1999 6/1/00 N/A $ 2.34375 $ 153,000 $ 153,000

9 1/8% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred; liquidation
value $250 per share; 500,000 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2000 and December 31, 1999 10/15/05 N/A $ 22.81252 125,000 125,000

9 1/8% Series C Cumulative Redeemable Preferred; liquidation
value $250 per share; 460,000 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2000 and December 31, 1999 9/9/06 N/A $ 22.81252 115,000 115,000

8.60% Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred; liquidation
value $250 per share; 700,000 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2000 and December 31, 1999 7/15/07 N/A $ 21.50000 175,000 175,000

Series E Cumulative Convertible Preferred; liquidation value
$25 per share; 3,599,615 and 3,994,000 shares issued 
and outstanding at December 31, 2000 and 
December 31, 1999, respectively 11/1/98 0.5564 $ 1.75000 89,990 99,850

9.65% Series F Cumulative Redeemable Preferred; liquidation
value $25 per share; 2,300,000 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2000 and December 31, 1999 8/24/00 N/A $ 2.41250 57,500 57,500

7 1/4% Series G Convertible Cumulative Preferred; liquidation
value $250 per share; 1,264,700 and 1,265,000 shares 
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2000 and 
December 31, 1999, respectively 9/15/02 4.2680 $ 18.12500 316,175 316,250

7.00% Series H Cumulative Convertible Preferred; liquidation
value $25 per share; 58,851 and 147,452 shares issued 
and outstanding at December 31, 2000 and 
December 31, 1999, respectively 6/30/98 0.7240 $ 1.75000 1,471 3,686

8.60% Series J Cumulative Convertible Preferred; liquidation value 
$25 per share; 0 and 4,599,200 shares issued and outstanding 
at December 31, 2000 and December 31, 1999, respectively (4) 3/31/00 0.6136 $ 2.15000 — 114,980

8.29% Series K Cumulative Redeemable Preferred; liquidation
value $50 per share; 1,000,000 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2000 and December 31, 1999 12/10/26 N/A $ 4.14500 50,000 50,000

7.625% Series L Cumulative Redeemable Preferred; liquidation
value $25 per share; 4,000,000 shares issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2000 and December 31, 1999 2/13/03 N/A $ 1.90625 100,000 100,000

$ 1,183,136 $ 1,310,266

(1) On or after the redemption date, redeemable preferred shares (Series A, B, C, D, F, K and L) may be redeemed for cash at the option of the Company, in whole or in part, at a redemption price
equal to the liquidation price per share, plus accrued and unpaid distributions, if any.
(2) On or after the redemption date, convertible preferred shares (Series E, G, H & J) may be redeemed under certain circumstances for cash or Common Shares at the option of the Company, in
whole or in part, at various redemption prices per share based upon the contractual conversion rate, plus accrued and unpaid distributions, if any.  The conversion rate listed for Series G is the
Preferred Share rate and the equivalent Depositary Share rate is 0.4268.
(3) Dividends on all series of Preferred Shares are payable quarterly at various pay dates. Dividend rates listed for Series B, C, D and G are Preferred Share rates and the equivalent Depositary
Share annual dividend rates are $2.281252, $2.281252, $2.15 and $1.8125, respectively.
(4) During 2000, all of the remaining Series J Preferred Shares were converted into 2,822,012 Common Shares of the Company.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . Equity Residential Properties Trust . 2000 Annual Report . 39



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

5 .  R E A L  E S TAT E

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts for investment
in real estate as of December 31, 2000 and 1999: 

(Amounts are in thousands) 2000 1999

Land $ 1,770,019 $ 1,550,378
Buildings and Improvements 10,338,971 10,266,290
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 443,340 404,260
Construction in Progress 39,130 18,035

Real Estate 12,591,460 12,238,963
Accumulated Depreciation (1,352,236) (1,070,487)

Real Estate, net $ 11,239,224 $ 11,168,476

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts for the real estate
held for disposition as of December 31, 2000 and 1999 (See Note 22):

(Amounts are in thousands) 2000 1999

Land $ 5,645 $ 2,383
Buildings and Improvements 50,739 14,596
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment 2,105 1,403

Real Estate 58,489 18,382
Accumulated Depreciation (6,852) (5,514)

Real Estate Held for Disposition $ 51,637 $ 12,868

In addition to the acquisition of Grove, during the year ended December
31, 2000, the Company acquired the twenty-eight Properties listed below:

Purchase
Date Number Price
Acquired Property Location of Units (in thousands)

01/19/00 Windmont Atlanta, GA 178 $   10,310
04/05/00 Alborada Fremont, CA 442 83,500
06/30/00 Jefferson at Wyndham Lakes Coral Springs, FL 332 33,340
07/12/00 Ambergate West Palm Beach, FL 72 2,362
07/12/00 Greengate West Palm Beach, FL 120 4,019
07/12/00 Jupiter Cove II Juno Beach, FL 61 1,663
07/12/00 Oakland Hills Margate, FL 189 7,800
07/12/00 Summit Center West Palm Beach, FL 87 2,347
07/12/00 Whispering Pines Fort Pierce, FL 64 978
07/25/00 Harbour Town Boca Raton, FL 392 31,940
09/13/00 Madison at Wells Branch Austin, TX 300 18,750
09/13/00 Madison at Scofield Farms Austin, TX 260 16,510
09/14/00 Westside Villas I-V Los Angeles, CA 176 42,000
09/27/00 Millburn Court I Dayton, OH 65 1,500
11/01/00 Centre Club I and II * Ontario, CA 312 31,100
11/08/00 Ridgewood Village II San Diego, CA 216 26,000
11/15/00 Legacy at Cherry Creek Denver, CO 183 23,595
11/21/00 Parkfield** Denver, CO 476 32,605
12/08/00 The Landings at Port Imperial West New York, NJ 276 64,800
12/20/00 Toscana Irvine, CA 563 90,000
12/20/00 Newhall Portfolio (4 properties) Valencia, CA 924 129,000

5,688 $ 654,119

* Includes a vacant land parcel valued at approximately $1.8 million.
** Property was acquired upon substantial completion of development.

In addition, during 2000 the Company paid $6.5 million to acquire
interests in 25 Properties containing 3,820 units, which previously
were accounted for under the equity method of accounting and
subsequent to these purchases were consolidated. Accordingly,
the Company recorded an additional $90.7 million in investments in
real estate. The Company also acquired two separate vacant land
parcels for $58.5 million.

In addition to the LFT Merger, during the year ended December 31,
1999, the Company acquired 22 Properties, of which fourteen were
acquired from unaffiliated parties and eight were acquired from an
affiliated party. In connection with certain of these transactions,
the Company assumed and/or entered into mortgage indebtedness
of approximately $69.9 million, issued OP Units having a value of
approximately $25.2 million and issued Junior Convertible
Preference Units having a value of approximately $3.0 million.

6 .  R E A L  E S TAT E  D I S P O S I T I O N S

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company disposed of
the fifty Properties listed below. Including the joint venture sales
discussed below, the Company recognized a net gain of approximately
$198.4 million. 

Disposition
Date Number Price
Disposed Property Location Of Units (in thousands)

02/04/00 Lakeridge at the Moors Miami, FL 175 $  10,000
02/09/00 Sonnet Cove I & II Lexington, KY 331 12,300
02/25/00 Yuma Court Colorado Springs, CO 40 2,350
02/25/00 Indigo Plantation Daytona Beach, FL 304 14,200
02/25/00 The Oaks of Lakebridge Ormond Beach, FL 170 7,800
03/23/00 Tanglewood Lake Oswego, OR 158 10,750
03/30/00 Preston Lake Tucker, GA 320 17,325
03/31/00 Cypress Cove Melbourne, FL 326 18,800
04/20/00 Village of Sycamore Ridge Memphis, TN 114 5,200
04/28/00 Towne Centre III & IV Laurel, MD 562 29,244
05/11/00 3000 Grand Des Moines, IA 186 9,625
06/14/00 Villa Madeira Scottsdale, AZ 332 17,500
07/06/00 Idlewood Indianapolis, IN 320 15,600
07/25/00 Sabal Palm Pompano Beach, FL 416 27,200
07/27/00 Lake in the Woods Ypsilanti, MI 1,028 57,000
07/28/00 Windmill Colorado Springs, CO 304 12,358
07/28/00 Cheyenne Crest Colorado Springs, CO 208 12,286
07/28/00 Lamplight Court London, OH 53 738
08/24/00 Huntington Hollow Tulsa, OK 288 7,100
08/24/00 Hunter Glen Springfield, IL 64 1,750
08/29/00 Glenridge Colorado Springs, CO 220 13,127
09/18/00 Greenwich Woods/Hollyview Silver Springs, MD 606 37,500
09/26/00 The Hollows Columbia, SC 212 8,000
09/26/00 Tamarind at Stoneridge Columbia, SC 240 8,030
10/02/00 Villa Serenas Tucson, AZ 611 20,850
10/03/00 Camellia Court Carrollton, KY 55 1,550
10/03/00 Millston I, II Aberdeen, OH 93 1,194
10/03/00 Springwood Maysville, KY 54 1,026
10/03/00 Willowood Owensboro, KY 55 1,200
10/17/00 Mission Palms Tucson, AZ 360 20,700
10/19/00 Del Coronado Mesa, AZ 419 23,575
10/19/00 Rancho Murietta Tempe, AZ 292 17,075
10/20/00 Crossings at Green Valley Henderson, NV 384 20,738
10/20/00 Reflections at the Lake Las Vegas, NV 326 19,665
10/20/00 The Trails Las Vegas, NV 440 29,410
10/23/00 Augustine Club Tallahassee, FL 222 9,925
10/23/00 Plantations at Killearn Tallahassee, FL 184 9,150
10/23/00 Woodlake at Killearn Tallahassee, FL 352 14,475
10/25/00 Towne Square Chandler, AZ 584 33,300
10/25/00 La Valenica Mesa, AZ 361 19,925
10/31/00 Willow Run Willard, OH 61 1,250
11/30/00 Ansley Oaks O’Fallon, IL 69 2,050
11/30/00 Bradford Place Belleville, IL 68 1,500
12/19/00 Slate Run Bardstown, KY 54 955
12/21/00 Shores at Anderson Springs Chandler, AZ 299 18,450
12/21/00 Brunswick Danville, IL 80 2,033
12/27/00 Stonehenge Ottawa, OH 36 905

12,436 $626,684
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During 2000, the Company entered into three separate joint ventures
with an unaffiliated party. At closing, the Company sold and/or
contributed thirty-four wholly owned properties containing 7,835
units valued at $473.4 million to the joint ventures encumbered
with $341.0 million in mortgage loans. The unaffiliated party
acquired a 75% interest in the joint ventures while the Company
retained a 25% interest along with the right to manage the properties.
The Company has classified its interest in the joint ventures as
investments in unconsolidated entities and accounted for them
under the equity method of accounting.

In addition, during 2000 the Company sold its entire interest in
three Unconsolidated Properties containing 377 units for 
approximately $4.6 million.

During the year ended December  31, 1999, the Company sold thirty-
six properties containing 7,886 units to unaffiliated parties for a
total sales price of $347.4 million. In connection with one of these
transactions, the purchaser assumed the Company’s mortgage
indebtedness of approximately $12.5 million. The Company recog-
nized a net gain for financial reporting purposes of approximately
$93.5 million. In addition, the Company also sold its entire interest
in six MRY joint venture properties containing 1,297 units for
approximately $54.1 million.

7 .  C O M M I T M E N T S  T O  A C Q U I R E / D I S P O S E  O F  
R E A L  E S TAT E

As of December 31, 2000, in addition to the Properties that were
subsequently acquired as discussed in Note 22, the Company
entered into separate agreements to acquire two multifamily
properties containing 519 units. The Company expects a combined
purchase price of approximately $56.2 million.

As of December 31, 2000, in addition to the Properties that were
subsequently disposed of as discussed in Note 22, the Company
entered into separate agreements to dispose of twenty-three 
multifamily properties containing 3,924 units to unaffiliated parties.
The Company expects a combined disposition price of 
approximately $210.5 million. 

The closings of these pending transactions are subject to certain
contingencies and conditions, therefore, there can be no assurance
that these transactions will be consummated or that the final
terms thereof will not differ in material respects from those 
summarized in the preceding paragraphs.

8 .  I N V E S T M E N T  I N  M O R T G A G E  N O T E S ,  N E T

In 1995, the Company invested $89 million in various partnership
interests and subordinated mortgages collateralized by 21
Properties consisting of 3,896 units. The unamortized balance of
the discount on the notes at December 31, 2000 and 1999 was $3.6
million and $4.8 million, respectively. During 2000 and 1999, the
Company amortized $1.2 million and $2.3 million, respectively. 
This discount is being amortized utilizing the effective yield
method based on the expected life of the investment. The fair
value as of December 31, 2000 and 1999 was estimated to be
approximately $80.8 million and $87.0 million, respectively, compared
to the Company’s carrying value of $77.2 million and $85.0 million,
respectively. The estimated fair value of the Company’s investment
in mortgage notes represents the estimated net present value
based on the expected future property level cash flows and an
estimated current market discount rate.

9 .  I N V E S T M E N T S  I N  U N C O N S O L I D AT E D  E N T I T I E S

The Company has entered into two separate joint venture agreements
with third party development companies whereby the Company
contributes 25% of the development cost to the joint venture in
return for preferential returns of 9.0% per annum.  The basis of
the Company’s equity investments in these two joint ventures 
was $235.9 million and $125.5 million as of December 31, 2000 
and 1999, respectively.

The Company also has various other investments in unconsolidated
entities with ownership interests ranging from 1.5% to 50.0%. The
basis of these equity investments was $80.6 million and $14.8 million
as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

These investments are accounted for utilizing the equity method
of accounting. Under the equity method of accounting, the net
equity investment of the Company is reflected on the consolidated
balance sheets and the consolidated statements of operations
include the Company’s share of net income or loss from the
unconsolidated entity.
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1 0 .  D E P O S I T S – R E S T R I C T E D

Deposits-restricted as of December 31, 2000 primarily included
the following:

• deposits in the amount of $39.5 million held in  third party
escrow accounts to provide collateral for third party con-
struction financing in connection with two separate joint
venture agreements;

• approximately $127.8 million  held in third party escrow
accounts, representing proceeds received in connection
with the Company’s disposition of thirteen properties and
approximately $1.1 million in earnest money deposits made
for six additional acquisitions;

• approximately $28.6 million for tenant security, utility
deposits, and other deposits for certain of the Company’s
Properties; and 

• approximately $34.6 million of other deposits.

Deposits-restricted as of December 31, 1999 primarily included
the following:

• deposits in the amount of $25.0 million held in third party
escrow accounts to provide collateral for third party 
construction financing in connection with two separate
joint venture agreements;

• approximately $48.9 million held in third party escrow
accounts, representing proceeds received in connection
with the Company’s disposition of three properties and
earnest money deposits made for one additional acquisition;

• approximately $29.9 million for tenant security, utility
deposits, and other deposits for certain of the Company’s
Properties; and 

• approximately $7.5 million of other deposits.

1 1 .  M O R T G A G E  N O T E S  PAYA B L E

As of December 31, 2000, the Company had outstanding mortgage
indebtedness of approximately $3.2 billion. The historical cost, net
of accumulated depreciation, of encumbered properties at
December 31, 2000 was approximately $5.1 billion.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company:
• recorded $65.1 million of mortgage debt in connection with

the consolidation of the Guilford portfolio on January 1, 2000;
• repaid $171.8 million of mortgage debt on eighty-three

Properties;
• obtained $148.3 million of new mortgage debt on eleven

previously unencumbered properties;
• settled on a $100 million forward starting swap and received

approximately $7.1 million. This amount is being amortized
over the life of the financing for the eleven previously
unencumbered Properties that occurred on March 20, 2000;

• assumed $87.4 million of mortgage debt on nine properties
in connection with their acquisitions;

• obtained $88.3 million in construction loan commitments on
two properties, of which $29.1 million is currently outstanding;

• recorded $15.0 million of mortgage debt in connection with
the consolidation of the CNL Portfolio and Springtree
Apartments;

• recorded $1.4 million of mortgage debt in connection with
the Globe acquisition;

• recorded $203.4 million of mortgage debt in connection
with the Grove acquisition;

• disposed of five properties, in which $4.8 million of mortgage
debt was assumed by the purchasers; and

• refinanced $208.8 million of debt on 16 existing properties.

As of December 31, 2000, scheduled maturities for the Company’s
outstanding mortgage indebtedness are at various dates through
October 1, 2033. The interest rate range on the Company’s mort-
gage debt was 3.95% to 12.465% at December 31, 2000. During the
year ended December 31, 2000, the weighted average interest rate
on the Company’s mortgage debt was 6.85%

Aggregate payments of principal on mortgage notes payable for
each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows 
(amounts in thousands):

Year Total

2001 $ 294,345
2002 244,461
2003 119,624
2004 187,777
2005 222,931
Thereafter 2,159,753
Net Unamortized Premiums/Discounts 1,720

Total $ 3,230,611

As of December 31, 1999, the Company had outstanding mortgage
indebtedness of approximately $2.9 billion. The historical cost, net
of accumulated depreciation, of encumbered properties at
December 31, 1999 was approximately $4.7 billion.

During the year ended December 31, 1999 the Company:
• as part of the LFT Merger, assumed the mortgage balances

on 342 Properties in the aggregate amount of $499.7 million;
• assumed $69.9 million of mortgage balances on eight

additional properties acquired;
• repaid the mortgage balances on 31 Properties in the

amount of $60.8 million;
• refinanced $44.9 million of debt on four existing properties

with new mortgage indebtedness totaling $62.9 million;
• obtained new mortgage financing on eleven previously

unencumbered properties in the amount of $126.5 million;
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• refinanced $120.8 million of debt on ten existing properties.
In addition, five previously unencumbered properties
cross-collateralize each of the new mortgage notes;

• refinanced the debt on two existing properties and conse-
quently sold its lender position to a third party, thus receiving
additional net cash proceeds of approximately $2.6 million.
The bond indebtedness on these two properties is now unse-
cured and is classified as notes, net at December 31, 1999;

• refinanced the debt on one existing property and consequently
sold its lender position to a third party, thus receiving additional
cash proceeds of approximately $13.7 million; and

• sold $12.5 million of debt on one property in conjunction
with a real estate disposition.

As of December 31, 1999, scheduled maturities for the Company’s
outstanding mortgage indebtedness are at various dates through
October 1, 2033. The interest rate range on the Company’s mort-
gage debt was 4.00% to 10.13% at December 31, 1999. During the
year ended December 31, 1999, the weighted average interest
rate on the Company’s mortgage debt was 7.05%. 

Concurrent with the refinancing of certain tax-exempt bonds 
and as a requirement of the credit provider of the bonds, the
Financing Partnership, which owns certain of the Properties,
entered into interest rate protection agreements, which were
assigned to the credit provider as additional security. The
Financing Partnership pays interest based on a fixed interest rate
and the counterparty of the agreement pays interest to the
Company at a floating rate that is calculated based on the Public
Securities Association Index for municipal bonds (“PSA
Municipal Index”). As of December 31, 2000, the aggregate
notional amounts of these agreements were approximately $131.6
million, $27.3 million and $8.9 million. As of December 31, 1999, the
aggregate notional amounts of these agreements were approximately
$133.4 million, $27.7 million and $9.1 million. The fixed interest
rates for these agreements were 4.81%, 4.528% and 4.90%. The
termination dates are October 1, 2003, January 1, 2004 and 
April 1, 2004.

The Company simultaneously entered into substantially identical
reverse interest rate protection agreements. Under these agreements
the Company pays interest monthly at a floating rate based on the
PSA Municipal Index and the counterparty pays interest to the
Company based on a fixed interest rate. As of December 31, 2000,
the aggregate notional amounts of these agreements were
approximately $131.6 million, $27.3 million and $8.9 million. As of
December 31, 1999, the aggregate notional amounts of these
agreements were approximately $133.4 million, $27.7 million and
$9.1 million. The fixed interest rates received by the Company in
exchange for paying interest based on the PSA Municipal Index
for these agreements were 4.74%, 4.458% and 4.83%. The termination
dates are October 1, 2003, January 1, 2004 and April 1, 2004.
Collectively, these agreements effectively cost the Company 0.07%
per annum on the current outstanding aggregate notional amount.

In May 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate protection
agreement to effectively fix the interest rate upon its refinancing
of the Evans Withycombe Financing Limited Partnership indebtedness
to within a range of 5.6% to 6.0%. The agreement was for a notional
amount of $131 million with a settlement date of August 2001.

In August 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate swap
agreement that fixed the Company’s interest rate risk on a portion of
the Operating Partnership’s variable rate tax-exempt bond indebted-
ness at a rate of 3.65125%. This agreement was for a notional
amount of $150 million with a termination date of August 2003.

In August 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate swap
agreement that fixed the Company’s interest rate risk on a portion
of the Operating Partnership’s variable rate tax-exempt bond
indebtedness at a rate of 3.683%. This agreement was for a notional
amount of $150 million with a termination date of August 2005.

In November 1998, the Company entered into an interest rate swap
agreement that fixed the Company’s interest rate risk on a portion
of the Operating Partnership’s variable rate tax-exempt bond
indebtedness at a rate of 5.81%. This agreement was for a notional
amount of $100 million with a termination date of August 2003.

1 2 .  N O T E S

The following tables summarize the Company’s unsecured note
balances and certain interest rate and maturity date information as
of and for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively:

Weighted
Average

December 31, 2000 Net Principal Interest Rate Interest Maturity
(Amounts are in thousands) Balance Ranges Rate Date Ranges

Fixed Rate Public Notes $  1,892,481 6.550% - 9.375% 6.93% 2001 - 2026
Floating Rate Public Note 99,818 (1) 7.26% 2003
Fixed Rate Tax-Exempt Bonds 127,780 4.750% - 5.20% 5.08% 2024 - 2029

Totals $  2,120,079

Weighted
Average

December 31, 1999 Net Principal Interest Rate Interest Maturity
(Amounts are in thousands) Balance Ranges Rate Date Ranges

Fixed Rate Public Notes $  2,062,759 6.150% - 9.375% 6.98% 2000 - 2026
Floating Rate Public Note 99,746 (1) 5.81% 2003
Fixed Rate Tax-Exempt Bonds 127,780 4.750% - 5.200% 4.99% 2024 - 2029

Totals $  2,290,285

(1) The interest rate on this note was LIBOR (reset quarterly) plus a spread equal to 0.65% and
0.75% at December 31, 2000 and December 31, 1999, respectively (reset annually in August).

As of December 31, 2000, the Company had outstanding unsecured
notes of approximately $2.1 billion net of a $3.7 million discount
and including a $5.0 million premium.
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As of December 31, 1999, the Company had outstanding unsecured
notes of approximately $2.3 billion net of a $4.6 million discount
and including a $7.1 million premium.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company and/or the
Operating Partnership:

• filed a Form S-3 Registration Statement on August 25, 2000
to register $1 billion of debt securities. The SEC declared
this registration statement effective on September 8, 2000.
In addition, the Operating Partnership carried over $430 mil-
lion related to the registration statement effective on
February 27, 1998. As of December 31, 2000, $1.43 billion
remained available for issuance under this registration
statement;

• assumed $39.5 million in unsecured notes;
• paid off at maturity fixed rate 7.25% public notes of 

$55.0 million;
• paid off at maturity fixed rate 6.15% public notes of 

$145.0 million; and
• paid off $8.0 million in fixed rate public notes.

During the year ended December 31, 1999, the Company and/or the
Operating Partnership:

• issued $300.0 million of redeemable unsecured fixed rate
public notes;

• paid off at maturity fixed rate 8.5% public notes of 
$125.0 million;

• paid off at maturity floating rate public notes of 
$25.0 million; and

• refinanced $92.2 million of bond indebtedness collateralized
by six existing properties.

Aggregate payments of principal on unsecured notes payable 
for each of the next five years and thereafter are as follows 
(amounts in thousands):

Year Total

2001 $ 154,286
2002 270,277
2003 194,286
2004 419,286
2005* 494,286
Thereafter 586,425
Net Unamortized Premiums 4,979
Net Unamortized Discounts (3,746)

Total $ 2,120,079

*Includes $300 million with a final maturity of 2015 that is putable/callable in 2005.

As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, the remaining unamortized 
balance of deferred settlement receipts from treasury locks 
and interest rate protection agreements was $8.8 million and 
$9.5 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, the remaining unamortized balance
of deferred settlement payments on treasury locks and interest rate
protection agreements was $2.1 million and $3.7 million, respectively.

In regard to the interest rate protection agreements mentioned,
the Company believes that it has limited exposure to the extent of
non-performance by the counterparties of each agreement since
each counterparty is a major U.S. financial institution, and the
Company does not anticipate their non-performance.

1 3 .  L I N E S  O F C R E D I T

The Company has a revolving credit facility with Bank of America
Securities LLC and Chase Securities Inc. acting as joint lead
arrangers to provide the Operating Partnership with potential 
borrowings of up to $700.0 million. This line of credit matures in
August 2002. Advances under the credit facility bear interest at
variable rates based upon LIBOR at various interest periods, plus 
a spread dependent upon the Company’s credit rating. As of
February 15, 2001, $200 million was outstanding under this facility
at a weighted average interest rate of 6.34%.

As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, $355 million and $300 million,
respectively, was outstanding and $53.5 million and $65.8 million,
respectively, was restricted on the lines of credit. During the years
ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the weighted average interest
rate was 7.06% and 6.42%, respectively.

In connection with the Globe acquisition, the Company assumed a
revolving credit facility with Fifth Third Bank with potential borrowings
of up to $55.0 million. This line of credit matures in May, 2003. As of
February 15, 2001, no amounts were outstanding under this facility.
Advances under the credit facility bear interest at variable rates
based upon LIBOR at various interest periods, plus a certain
spread dependent upon Globe’s credit rating.

In connection with the Grove acquisition, the Company assumed a
line of credit that had an outstanding balance of approximately
$38.0 million. On October 31, 2000, the Company repaid this out-
standing balance and terminated this facility.

In connection with the LFT Merger, the Company assumed a line of
credit that had an outstanding balance of approximately $26.4 million.
On October 1, 1999, the Company repaid the outstanding balance
and terminated this facility.
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1 4 .  C A L C U L AT I O N O F  N E T  I N C O M E  P E R  W E I G H T E D  
AV E R A G E  C O M M O N  S H A R E  

The following tables set forth the computation of net income per
share – basic and net income per share – diluted. 

Year Ended December 31,
(Amounts in thousands except per share amounts) 2000 1999 1998

Numerator:
Income before allocation to Minority Interests,

income from investments in 
unconsolidated entities, net gain on 
sales of real estate, extraordinary 
items and preferred distributions $ 380,613 $ 319,842 $ 251,927

Allocation to Minority Interests:
Operating Partnership (41,761) (29,536) (18,529)
Partially Owned Properties 132 — —

Income from investments in 
unconsolidated entities 17,633 10,491 3,105

Preferred distributions (111,941) (113,196) (92,917)

Income before net gain on sales of real estate
and extraordinary items 244,676 187,601 143,586

Net gain on sales of real estate 198,426 93,535 21,703
Extraordinary items (5,592) (451) —

Numerator for net income per share - basic 437,510 280,685 165,289
Effect of dilutive securities:

Allocation to Minority Interests - 
Operating Partnership 41,761 29,536 18,529

Distributions on convertible preferred 
shares/units 7,385 — —

Numerator for net income per share - diluted $ 486,656 $ 310,221 $ 183,818

Denominator:
Denominator for net income per share - basic 129,507 122,175 100,370
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options/restricted shares 1,291 654 865
OP Units 12,453 12,826 11,343
Convertible preferred shares/units 2,382 — —

Denominator for net income per share - diluted 145,633 135,655 112,578

Net income per share - basic $ 3.38 $ 2.30 $ 1.65

Net income per share - diluted $ 3.34 $ 2.29 $ 1.63

Year Ended December 31,
(Amounts in thousands except per share amounts) 2000 1999 1998

Net income per share – basic:
Income before net gain on sales of real estate

and extraordinary items per share – basic $ 2.02 $ 1.61 $ 1.45
Net gain on sales of real estate 1.40 0.69 0.20
Extraordinary items (0.04) — —

Net income per share – basic $ 3.38 $ 2.30 $ 1.65

Net income per share – diluted:
Income before net gain on sales of real estate

and extraordinary items per share – diluted $ 2.02 $ 1.60 $ 1.44
Net gain on sales of real estate 1.36 0.69 0.19
Extraordinary items (0.04) — —

Net income per share – diluted $ 3.34 $ 2.29 $ 1.63

For additional disclosures regarding the employee share options, see Note 16.

Convertible Preferred Shares and Junior Convertible Preference Units that could be converted
into 6,569,358, 12,023,051 and 8,739,688 weighted Common Shares for the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively, were outstanding but were not included in
the computation of diluted earnings per share because the effects would be anti-dilutive.

1 5 .  S U M M A R I Z E D  P R O  F O R M A  C O N D E N S E D  
S TAT E M E N T O F  O P E R AT I O N S  

The following Summarized Pro Forma Condensed Statement of
Operations has been prepared as if the acquisitions of Globe and
Grove had occurred on January 1, 2000. In management’s opinion,
the Summarized Pro Forma Condensed Statement of Operations
does not purport to present what actual results would have been
had the above transactions occurred on January 1, 2000, or to pro-
ject results for any future period. The amounts presented in the
following statement are in thousands except for per share
amounts:

Summarized Pro Forma Condensed
Statement Of Operations For the

Year Ended December 31, 2000

Total revenues $ 2,164,421

Total expenses 1,776,725

Net income 555,200
Preferred distributions (111,941)

Net income available for Common Shares $ 443,259

Net income per Common Share - basic $ 3.42

1 6 .  S H A R E O P T I O N A N D  S H A R E AWA R D P L A N

Pursuant to the Company’s Fifth Amended and Restated 1993 Share
Option and Share Award Plan (the “Fifth Amended Option and
Award Plan”), officers, directors, key employees and consultants of
the Company may be offered the opportunity to acquire Common
Shares through the grant of share options (“Options”) including
non-qualified share options (“NQSOs”), incentive share options
(“ISOs”) and share appreciation rights (“SARs”) or may be granted
restricted or non-restricted shares. Additionally, under the Fifth
Amended Option and Award Plan, officers and key employees of the
Company may be awarded Common Shares, subject to conditions
and restrictions as described in the Fifth Amended Option and
Award Plan. Finally, certain executive officers of the Company are
subject to the Company’s performance based restricted share grant
agreement. Options and SARs are sometimes referred to herein as
“Awards”. 

The Company has reserved 12,500,000 Common Shares for issuance
under the Fifth Amended Option and Award Plan. The Options generally
are granted at the fair market value of the Company’s Common Shares
at the date of grant, vest over a three year period, are exercisable
upon vesting and expire ten years from the date of grant. The exercise
price for all Options under the Fifth Amended Option and Award Plan
shall not be less than the fair market value of the underlying
Common Shares at the time the Option is granted. The Fifth Amended
Option and Award Plan will terminate at such time as no further
Common Shares are available for issuance upon the exercise of
Options and all outstanding Options have expired or been exercised.
The Board of Trustees may at any time amend or terminate the Fifth
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Amended Option and Award Plan, but termination will not affect
Awards previously granted. Any Options, which had vested prior to
such a termination, would remain exercisable by the holder thereof.

As to the Options that have been granted through December 31,
2000, generally, one-third are exercisable one year after the initial
grant, one-third are exercisable two years following the date such
Options were granted and the remaining one-third are exercisable
three years following the date such Options were granted. 

As to the restricted shares that have been awarded through
December 31, 2000, these shares generally vest three years from the
award date. During the three-year period of restriction, the employee
receives quarterly dividend payments on their shares. If employment
is terminated prior to the lapsing of the restriction, the shares are
canceled. During the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, the
Company issued 260,481 and 324,749 restricted shares. The estimated
remaining unearned compensation related to these restricted shares,
which includes performance based awards for certain executive offi-
cers, as of December 31, 2000 was $14.9 million.

The Company has elected to apply the provisions of Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees (“APB No. 25”), in the computation of compensation
expense. Under APB No. 25’s intrinsic value method, compensation
expense is determined by computing the excess of the market price
of the shares over the exercise price on the measurement date. For
the Company’s share options, the intrinsic value on the measure-
ment date (or grant date) is zero, and no compensation expense is
recognized. For the Company’s restricted shares, the Company
determines the intrinsic value on the measurement date and
accordingly recognizes a compensation expense for such shares.
FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (“Statement No. 123”),
requires the Company to disclose pro forma net income and income
per share as if a fair value based accounting method had been used
in the computation of compensation expense. The fair value of the
options computed under Statement No. 123 would be recognized
over the vesting period of the options. The fair value for the
Company’s options was estimated at the time the options were
granted using the Black Scholes option pricing model with the fol-
lowing weighted-average assumptions for 1998, 1999 and 2000,
respectively: risk-free interest rates of 5.37%, 5.84% and 6.22%;
dividend yields of 5.98%, 6.89% and 6.83%; volatility factors of the
expected market price of the Company’s Common Shares of 0.212,
0.209 and 0.207; and a weighted-average expected life of the
options of seven years.

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use
in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation
models require the input of highly subjective assumptions includ-
ing the expected stock price volatility. Because the Company’s
Options have characteristics significantly different from those of
traded options, and because changes in the subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in man-
agement’s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide
a reliable single measure of the fair value of its Options.

For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of
the Options is amortized to expense over the Options’ vesting peri-
od. The following is the pro forma information for the three years
ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998:

2000 1999 1998

Pro forma net income available to 
Common Shares $ 430,432 $ 271,085 $ 155,429

Pro forma net income per weighted Average
Common Share Outstanding – basic $ 3.32 $ 2.22 $ 1.55

The table below summarizes the Option activity of the Fifth
Amended Option and Award Plan and options assumed in connec-
tion with Mergers (the “Merger Options”) for the three years
ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998:

Common Weighted Average
Shares Subject to Exercise Price Per

Options or Awards Common Share

Balance at December 31, 1997 4,089,656 $ 36.21
Options granted 1,965,950 $ 50.31
Merger Options (assumed) 925,830 $ 38.53
Options exercised (194,021) $ 29.20
Merger Options exercised (237,153) $ 37.22
Options cancelled (327,319) $ 47.22

Balance at December 31, 1998 6,222,943 $ 40.61
Options granted 1,490,353 $ 40.68
Merger Options (assumed) 82,466 $ 31.43
Options exercised (575,865) $ 28.87
Merger Options exercised (437,327) $ 38.21
Options canceled (384,568) $ 45.87
Merger Options canceled (143,369) $ 41.42

Balance at December 31, 1999 6,254,633 $ 41.41
Options granted 1,075,491 $ 42.41
Options exercised (582,087) $ 34.96
Merger Options exercised (102,781) $ 35.35
Options canceled (258,263) $ 42.77
Merger Options canceled (10,800) $ 40.43

Balance at December 31, 2000 6,376,193 $ 42.21

As of December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, 3,959,152 shares,
3,165,554 shares and 2,841,561 shares were exercisable, respec-
tively. Exercise prices for Options outstanding as of December 31,
2000 ranged from $26 to $54.8125 for the Fifth Amended Option
and Award Plan and $2.83 to $48.60 for the Merger Options.
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1 7 .  E M P L O Y E E  P L A N S

The Company has established an Employee Share Purchase Plan
whereby  trustees and employees of the Company may annually
acquire up to $100,000 of Common Shares of the Company. The
aggregate number of Common Shares available under the
Employee Share Purchase Plan shall not exceed 1,000,000, subject
to adjustment by the Board of Trustees. The Common Shares may
be purchased quarterly at a price equal to 85% of the lesser of: (a)
the closing price for a share on the last day of such quarter; and (b)
the greater of: (i) the closing price for a share on the first day of
such quarter, and (ii) the average closing price for a share for all the
business days in the quarter. During 1998, the Company issued
93,521 Common Shares at net prices that ranged from $35.70 per
share to $42.71 per share and raised approximately $3.7 million in
connection therewith. During 1999, the Company issued 147,885
Common Shares at net prices that ranged from $34.37 per share to
$36.71 per share and raised approximately $5.2 million in connection
therewith. During 2000, the Company issued 149,790 Common
Shares at net prices that ranged from $34.11 per share to $41.01 per
share and raised approximately $5.4 million in connection therewith.

The Company has established a defined contribution plan (the
“401(k) Plan”) that provides retirement benefits for employees
that meet minimum employment criteria. The Company con-
tributes 100% of the first 4% of eligible compensation that a par-
ticipant contributes to the 401(k) Plan. Participants are vested in
the Company’s contributions over five years. The Company made
contributions in the amount of $1.4 million and $2.3 million for the
years ended December 31, 1998 and 1999, respectively, and
expects to make contributions in the amount of approximately $3.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2000.

1 8 .  D I S T R I B U T I O N  R E I N V E S T M E N T A N D  S H A R E  
P U R C H A S E  P L A N

On November 3, 1997, the Company filed with the SEC a Form S-3
Registration Statement to register 7,000,000 Common Shares pursuant
to a Distribution Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan (the
“DRIP Plan”). The registration statement was declared effective
on November 25, 1997.

The DRIP Plan of the Company provides holders of record and
beneficial owners of Common Shares, Preferred Shares, and limited
partnership interests in the Operating Partnership with a simple
and convenient method of investing cash distributions in additional
Common Shares (which is referred to herein as the “Dividend
Reinvestment – DRIP Plan”). Common Shares may also be purchased
on a monthly basis with optional cash payments made by partici-
pants in the DRIP Plan and interested new investors, not currently
shareholders of the Company, at the market price of the Common
Shares less a discount ranging between 0% and 5%, as determined
in accordance with the DRIP Plan (which is referred to herein as
the “Share Purchase – DRIP Plan”).

1 9 .  T R A N S A C T I O N S W I T H  R E L AT E D  PA R T I E S

Certain officers of the Company purchased Common Shares
which were financed with loans made by the Company at various
rates ranging from 6.15% to 7.93% per annum and at one month
LIBOR plus 2.0% per annum. Scheduled maturities are at various
dates through 2005. The amounts outstanding at December 31,
2000 and 1999 are $4.3 million and $4.7 million, respectively.

The Company also entered into deferred compensation and share
distribution agreements with certain officers of the Company that
resulted in the Company recognizing compensation expense of
$0.9 million, $1.1 million and $0.8 million for the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

In connection with certain Mergers, the Company agreed to make
consulting payments to certain individuals who had been employees
of the companies acquired and who became trustees of the Company
subsequent to the applicable merger dates. During the years ended
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, the Company made payments 
pursuant to these agreements of $400,000, $625,000 and $625,000,
respectively. The remaining future payments to be made under these
agreements as of December 31, 2000 are approximately $567,000.

The Company occupies office space at various office buildings
that are owned and/or managed by Equity Office Holdings, L.L.C.
(“EOH”), a company of which EQR’s chairman of the board is also
chairman of the board. Amounts incurred for such office space
for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respec-
tively, were $1,781,069, $1,466,569 and $1,067,970.

Artery Property Management, Inc., a real estate property man-
agement company (“APMI”) in which a trustee of the Company is a
two-thirds owner and chairman of the board of directors, provided
the Company consulting services with regard to property acquisitions
and additional business opportunities. In connection with the
acquisition of certain Properties from this trustee and his affiliates
during 1995, the Company made a loan to this trustee and APMI of
$15,212,000 evidenced by two notes and secured by 465,545 OP
Units. At December 31, 2000, no amounts were outstanding under
these notes and all OP Units were released from their pledges.

During 1999, the Company acquired eight Properties and the related
management agreements from affiliates of the aforementioned
trustee for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $110.2
million, including the assumption of approximately $44.3 million of
mortgage indebtedness. The purchase price also included the
issuance of 28,795 Series A Junior Convertible Preference Units
in the Operating Partnership, which have a liquidation value of
$100 per unit and are exchangeable for OP Units under certain
circumstances. On June 29, 1999, this trustee received 8,462 of
these units with a liquidation value of approximately $0.8 million.
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The Company paid legal fees to a law firm of which one of the
Company’s trustees is a partner, in the amounts of $3.6 million,
$1.6 million and $2.2 million for the years ended December 31,
2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

In addition, the Company has provided acquisitions, asset and property
management services to certain related entities for properties not
owned by the Company. Fees received for providing such services
were approximately $1.7 million, $2.4 million and $3.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively.

2 0 .  C O M M I T M E N T S  A N D  C O N T I N G E N C I E S

The Company, as an owner of real estate, is subject to various
environmental laws of Federal and local governments.
Compliance by the Company with existing laws has not had a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and
results of operations. However, the Company cannot predict the
impact of new or changed laws or regulations on its current
Properties or on properties that it may acquire in the future.

The Company does not believe there is any litigation threatened
against the Company other than routine litigation arising out of
the ordinary course of business, some of which is expected to be
covered by liability insurance, none of which is expected to have
a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements
of the Company.

In regards to the funding of Properties in the development and/or
earnout stage and the joint venture agreements with two multi-
family residential real estate developers, the Company funded a
total of $160.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2000.
The Company expects to fund approximately $83.2 million in 
connection with these Properties beyond 2000. In connection with
one joint venture agreement, the Company has an obligation to
fund up to an additional $17.5 million to guarantee third party 
construction financing. At any time following the completion of
construction of any development property, the Company’s joint
venture partners have the right to cause the Company to acquire
said partner’s interest in the completed project on certain terms
and conditions contained in their partnership agreement at a
mutually agreeable price.

In connection with the Wellsford Merger, the Company provided 
a credit enhancement with respect to certain tax-exempt bonds
issued to finance certain public improvements at a multifamily
development project. As of December 31, 2000, this enhancement
was still in effect at a commitment amount of $12.7 million.

During the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, total
lease payments incurred, including a portion of real estate taxes,
insurance, repairs and utilities, aggregated $4,074,672, $3,271,513
and $2,528,150 respectively.

The minimum basic aggregate rental commitment under the
Company’s leases in years following December 31, 2000 is as follows:

Year Amount

2001 $ 7,131,389
2002 5,479,821
2003 4,404,088
2004 2,632,227
2005 1,158,311
Thereafter 0

Total $ 20,805,836

2 1 .  R E P O R TA B L E  S E G M E N T S

The following tables set forth the reconciliation of net income and
total assets for the Company’s reportable segments for the years
ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998.

Rental Real Corporate/
2000 (Amounts in thousands) Estate (1) Other (2) Consolidated

Rental income $ 1,959,785 $ — $ 1,959,785
Fee and asset management income — 6,520 6,520
Furniture income — 27,577 27,577
Property and maintenance expense (503,239) — (503,239)
Real estate tax and insurance expense (182,479) — (182,479)
Property management expense (76,416) — (76,416)
Fee and asset management expense — (5,157) (5,157)
Furniture operating expenses — (16,288) (16,288)

Net operating income 1,197,651 12,652 1,210,303

Interest income - investment in mortgage notes — 11,192 11,192
Interest and other income — 25,266 25,266
Depreciation expense on non-real estate assets — (12,093) (12,093)
Interest expense:

Expense incurred — (382,946) (382,946)
Amortization of deferred financing costs — (5,473) (5,473)

General and administrative expense — (26,385) (26,385)
Amortization of goodwill — (1,760) (1,760)
Allocation to Minority Interests – Partially

Owned Properties — 132 132
Income from investments in unconsolidated entities — 17,633 17,633
Preferred distributions — (111,941) (111,941)
Adjustment for loss on investment in 

technology segment — 1,000 1,000
Adjustment for depreciation expense related to

Unconsolidated and Partially Owned Properties — 1,244 1,244

Funds from operations available to Common 
Shares and OP Units (unaudited) 1,197,651 (471,479) 726,172

Depreciation expense on real estate assets (437,491) — (437,491)
Net gain on sales of real estate 198,426 — 198,426
Extraordinary items (5,592) — (5,592)
Allocation to Minority Interests – 

Operating Partnership — (41,761) (41,761)
Adjustment for loss on investment in 

technology segment — (1,000) (1,000)
Adjustment for depreciation expense 

related to Unconsolidated and Partially
Owned Properties — (1,244) (1,244)

Net income available to Common Shares $ 952,994 $ (515,484) $ 437,510

Investment in real estate, net of 
accumulated depreciation $ 11,223,226 $ 15,998 $ 11,239,224

Total assets $ 11,274,863 $ 989,103 $ 12,263,966
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Rental Real Corporate/
1999 (Amounts in thousands) Estate (1) Other (2) Consolidated

Rental income $ 1,711,738 $ — $ 1,711,738
Fee and asset management income — 5,088 5,088
Property and maintenance expense (414,026) — (414,026)
Real estate tax and insurance expense (171,289) — (171,289)
Property management expense (61,626) — (61,626)
Fee and asset management expense — (3,587) (3,587)

Net operating income 1,064,797 1,501 1,066,298

Interest income – investment in mortgage notes — 12,559 12,559
Interest and other income — 13,242 13,242
Depreciation expense on non-real estate assets — (7,231) (7,231)
Interest expense:

Expense incurred — (337,189) (337,189)
Amortization of deferred financing costs — (4,084) (4,084)

General and administrative expense — (22,296) (22,296)
Income from investments in unconsolidated entities — 10,491 10,491
Preferred distributions — (113,196) (113,196)
Adjustment for depreciation expense related

to Unconsolidated Properties — 1,009 1,009

Funds from operations available to Common 
Shares and OP Units (unaudited) 1,064,797 (445,194) 619,603

Depreciation expense on real estate assets (401,457) — (401,457)
Net gain on sales of real estate 93,535 — 93,535
Extraordinary items — (451) (451)
Allocation to Minority Interests – 

Operating Partnership — (29,536) (29,536)
Adjustment for depreciation expense 

related to Unconsolidated Properties — (1,009) (1,009)

Net income available to Common Shares $ 756,875 $ (476,190) $ 280,685

Investment in real estate, net of 
accumulated depreciation $ 11,151,167 $ 17,309 $ 11,168,476

Total assets $ 11,164,035 $ 551,654 $ 11,715,689

Rental Real Corporate/
1998 (Amounts in thousands) Estate (1) Other (2) Consolidated

Rental income $ 1,293,560 $ — $ 1,293,560
Fee and asset management income — 5,622 5,622
Property and maintenance expense (326,733) — (326,733)
Real estate tax and insurance expense (126,009) — (126,009)
Property management expense (53,101) — (53,101)
Fee and asset management expense — (4,279) (4,279)

Net operating income 787,717 1,343 789,060

Interest income - investment in mortgage notes — 18,564 18,564
Interest and other income — 16,145 16,145
Depreciation expense on non-real estate assets — (5,361) (5,361)
Interest expense:

Expense incurred — (246,585) (246,585)
Amortization of deferred financing costs — (2,757) (2,757)

General and administrative expense — (20,631) (20,631)
Income from investments in unconsolidated entities — 3,105 3,105
Preferred distributions — (92,917) (92,917)
Adjustment for depreciation expense related to

Unconsolidated Properties — 183 183

Funds from operations available to 
Common Shares and OP Units (unaudited) 787,717 (328,911) 458,806

Depreciation expense on real estate assets (296,508) — (296,508)
Net gain on sales of real estate 21,703 — 21,703
Income allocated to Minority Interests — (18,529) (18,529)
Adjustment for depreciation expense 

related to Unconsolidated Properties — (183) (183)

Net income available to Common Shares $ 512,912 $ (347,623) $ 165,289 

(1) The Company’s primary business is owning, managing, and operating multifamily residential
properties which includes the generation of rental and other related income through the leasing
of apartment units to tenants.
(2) The Company has a segment for corporate level activity including such items as fee and
asset management activity, furniture rental/sales activity, interest income earned on short-term
investments and investment in mortgage notes, investment in technology entities, income
earned from investments in unconsolidated entities, general and administrative expenses, and
interest expense on mortgage notes payable, unsecured note issuances and lines of credit.
The Company’s fee and asset management and furniture rental/sales activities are immaterial
and do not meet the threshold requirements of a reportable segment as provided for in
Statement No. 131. Interest expense on debt is not allocated to individual Properties, even if
the Properties secure such debt.  Further, income allocated to Minority Interests is not allocated
to the Properties.   
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2 2 .  S U B S E Q U E N T  E V E N T S

The Company:
• acquired Suerte Apartments, a 272-unit property located in

San Diego, California for approximately $37.5 million
(assumed mortgage debt of approximately $18.5 million),
Westside Villas VI, an 18-unit property located in Los
Angeles, California for $4.6 million and Riverview
Apartments, a 92-unit property located in Norwalk,
Connecticut for $9.6 million (assumed mortgage debt of 
$6.3 million);

• disposed of Meadowood II Apartments in Indianapolis,
Indiana for $1.3 million, Concorde Bridge Apartments in
Overland Park, Kansas for $15.6 million and Springs of
Country Woods in Salt Lake City, Utah for $31.0 million;

• funded $12.4 million to pay off at maturity the mortgage
debt on two properties;

• funded $11.6 million related to the development, earnout
and joint venture agreements; and

• entered into two $100 million forward starting swaps 
commencing on March 1, 2001 and expiring on March 1, 2011.
The Company will pay an interest rate of 5.958% on the first
$100 million and 5.965% on the second $100 million and will
receive an interest rate of 90-day LIBOR under both swaps.

2 3 .  Q U A R T E R LY  F I N A N C I A L  D ATA  ( U N A U D I T E D )

The following unaudited quarterly data has been prepared on the
basis of a December 31 year-end. The 1999 and 2000 net income
per weighted average Common Share amounts have been presented.
Amounts are in thousands, except for per share amounts.

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

1999 3/31 6/30 9/30 12/31

Total revenues ** $ 416,137 $ 422,222 $ 435,188 $ 479,571

Net income $ 93,554 $ 96,662 $ 95,891 $ 107,774 

Net income available to 
Common Shares $ 64,177 $ 68,928 $ 67,884 $ 79,696

Net income per share - basic $ 0.54 $ 0.57 $ 0.56 $ 0.63

Net income per share - diluted $ 0.54 $ 0.57 $ 0.55 $ 0.63

Weighted average 
Common Shares 
Outstanding - basic 118,956 120,558 122,312 126,788

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

2000 3/31 6/30 9/30 12/31

Total revenues ** $ 485,410 $ 493,113 $ 537,254 $ 532,196

Net income * $ 101,139 $ 152,659 $ 169,316 $ 126,337

Net income available to 
Common Shares * $ 72,751 $ 125,393 $ 141,373 $ 97,993

Net income per 
share - basic * $ 0.57 $ 0.97 $ 1.08 $ 0.75 

Net income per 
share - diluted * $ 0.57 $ 0.96 $ 1.06 $ 0.74

Weighted average Common 
Shares Outstanding - basic 127,798 129,072 131,412 131,322

* For the quarter ended September 30, 2000, Net income, Net income available to Common
Shares, Net income per share - basic, and Net income per share - diluted have been adjusted
to reflect the correction of the amounts previously reported on the Company’s quarterly report
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000 related to the gain on disposition of
properties, net.  The amounts for Net income, Net income available to Common Shares, Net
income per share - basic, and Net income per share - diluted for the quarter ended September
30, 2000 have been reduced by $36,659, $36,659, $0.27, and $0.27, respectively.

** Includes income from investments in unconsolidated entities.
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To the Board of Trustees and Shareholders
Equity Residential Properties Trust

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
of Equity Residential Properties Trust (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2000 and 1999 and the related consolidated statements
of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2000.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material mis-
statement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of Equity Residential Properties Trust at
December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the consolidated results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States.

Chicago, Illinois
February 15, 2001

Report of Independent Auditors
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Samuel Zell
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Equity Residential Properties Trust
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Equity Group Investments, L.L.C.

Douglas Crocker II
President, Chief Executive Officer
Equity Residential Properties Trust

John W. Alexander
President, Mallard Creek Capital Partners

Stephen O. Evans
President, Evans Realty Associates

Henry H. Goldberg
Chairman of the Board, 
Chief Executive Officer
Artery Group, L.L.C.

Errol R. Halperin
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Chairman of the Board, Regions Bank
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Chief Executive Officer, 
Wellsford Real Properties, Inc.

Jeffrey H. Lynford
Chairman, Wellsford Real Properties, Inc.

Sheli Z. Rosenberg
Vice Chairman,
Equity Group Investments, L.L.C.

Gerald A. Spector
Executive Vice President, 
Chief Operating Officer
Equity Residential Properties Trust

Michael N. Thompson
President, Merry Land Properties, Inc.

B. Joseph White
Dean, University of Michigan Business School

Corporate Office
Equity Residential Properties Trust
Two North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, IL 60606
Phone: 312.474.1300
www.equityapartments.com

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Samuel Zell
Chairman of the Board of Trustees

Douglas Crocker II
President, Chief Executive Officer

Gerald A. Spector
Executive Vice President, 
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TRANSFER AGENT

To keep securities information up-to-date and to
ensure that holders of Equity Residential Properties
Trust securities receive financial information as soon
as possible after mailing, please advise the transfer
agent of your new address or change of name. Write
to them directly at the following address:

Fleet National Bank
c/o EquiServe, LP
P.O. Box 43010
Providence, RI  02940-3010
Or call, 1.800.733.5001
www.equiserve.com

FORM 10-K AVAILABILITY

Requests for Equity Residential Form 10-K filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
and any other inquiries from individuals and 
institutional investors should be directed to:

Cynthia H. McHugh
Senior Vice President – Investor Relations
Equity Residential Properties Trust
Two North Riverside Plaza
Chicago, IL 60606
Phone: 1.888.879.6356
Email: InvestorRelations@eqrworld.com
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that contains reports, proxy information and 
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COMMON SHARE MARKET PRICES 
AND DIVIDENDS

Equity Residential’s common shares are listed on
the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), ticker
symbol EQR. The high and low sales prices for the
past two years on the NYSE were as follows:

Dividend
2000 High Low Close Paid

First Quarter $44.50 $38.69 $40.19 $.76
Second Quarter $48.50 $40.00 $45.98 $.76
Third Quarter $51.19 $46.75 $48.00 $.815
Fourth Quarter $57.25 $44.50 $55.31 $.815

Dividend
1999 High Low Close Paid

First Quarter $41.94 $39.88 $41.25 $.71
Second Quarter $48.38 $40.25 $45.06 $.71
Third Quarter $45.25 $40.69 $42.38 $.76
Fourth Quarter $43.25 $38.25 $42.69 $.76

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT 
AND SHARE PURCHASE PLAN

Equity Residential offers a Dividend
Reinvestment and Share Purchase Plan. For 
an information packet, including the Plan
prospectus and enrollment form, please call the
Plan Administrator, EquiServe, at 1.800.337.5666. 

SHAREHOLDERS

There were approximately 9,000 registered
owners, along with an estimated 52,000 beneficial
owners of Equity Residential Properties Trust
common shares as of February 1, 2001. The
number of outstanding common shares as of
February 1, 2001 was 132,790,407.
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